

LUND UNIVERSITY

Housing Matters for People with Parkinson's disease. Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Activities of Daily Living

Andersson, Nilla

2022

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Andersson, N. (2022). Housing Matters for People with Parkinson's disease. Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Activities of Daily Living. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Health Sciences]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Housing Matters for People with Parkinson's disease

Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Activities of Daily Living

NILLA ANDERSSON | DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SCIENCES FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY

N.W.A

Housing Matters for People with Parkinson's disease

Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Activities of Daily Living

Nilla Andersson



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Health Science Centre, Baravägen 3, Lund, on November 24, 2022 at 09:00.

> Faculty opponent Anders Kottorp

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	Doctoral disseration
	Date of issue
	24th of November 2022
Nilla Andersson	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle: Housing matters for people with Parkinson's disease - Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Actvities of daily living

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the most common neurological diseases with both motor and non-motor symptoms that can be perceived as difficult to control despite medical treatment. This leads to several consequences in everyday life for example difficulties in activities of daily living (ADL), sometimes already at diagnosis. Therefore, rehabilitation is important to manage the consequences of the disease and to improve health. Furthermore, ADL performance is dependent on the environment one interacts with, and housing is one environment associated with different health outcomes in the ageing population. However, housing matters constitutes a knowledge gap for people with PD. Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis was to increase the knowledge of housing matters for people with PD living in ordinary housing in Sweden, covering both objective and perceived aspect of housing. Furthermore, psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing were performed.

This thesis has a quantitative approach and is based on baseline and three-year follow-up data from the longitudinal study "Home and health in people ageing with PD" (HHPD). The data collection was done through questionnaires and clinical assessments at home visits. Study I was a three-year cohort study that included 138 participants and explored environmental barriers and housing accessibility for people with PD. Both parametric and non-parametric statistics were used to explore change over time. The results show that the top ten environmental barriers that generated accessibility problems were largely the same over the three years, although with notable changes in order and magnitude. Barriers in hygiene areas, kitchens and entrances were ranked at the top at baseline, while a barrier in the exterior surrounding generated the most accessibility problems after three years. Studies II and III were crosssectional and evaluated psychometric properties of the Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH) and external Housing-Related Control Belief Questionnaire (HCQ) for 145 participants each. Data quality, structural validity, construct validity, scaling assumptions, floor- and ceiling effects and internal consistency reliability were evaluated. The results of both studies suggested revised versions of the instruments based on the evaluation of structural validity. Further evaluations showed that data quality was high and construct validity was largely supported for both instruments. Also, internal consistency and homogeneity of the instruments surpassed the recommended values in both studies. Study IV was a cohort study including 154 participants at baseline and at follow-up, that explored the direction of the relationship between external housing-related control beliefs and ADL. Linear and logistic regression analyses were used. The results suggest that difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, while the other direction could not be confirmed. This finding regarding people with PD is contrary to theories in environmental gerontology.

The findings from this thesis can be applied in several ways. The knowledge of accessibility problems can be used in individual rehabilitation to enable more farsighted housing adaptations for people with PD. However, not all problems can be efficiently solved through individual rehabilitation, rather some should be addressed on the societal level to meet some of the housing needs for people with PD. The psychometric evaluation suggested that the revised versions of MOH and external HCQ are reliable and valid for use among people with PD, which is a prerequisite to enable high guality research on perceived housing. The novel findings that difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, add to the overall understanding of housing and health interactions for people with PD.

Key words Parkinson's disease, Housing accessibility, Perceived housing, Activities of daily living, Occupational therapy, Psychometrics		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-8021-314-1
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 94	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Willer Und

Date 2022-10-18

Housing Matters for People with Parkinson's disease

Accessibility, Meaning, Control and Activities of Daily Living

Nilla Andersson



Coverphoto by Johan Bävman

Copyright pp 1-94 (Nilla Andersson) Paper 1 © 2021 The authors Paper 2 © 2020 The authors Paper 3 © 2020 The authors Paper 4 The authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Open access articles under the terms of the CC BY 4.0 license

Faculty of Medicine Department of Health Sciences

ISBN 978-91-8021-314-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2022



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN "A house is made of walls and beams, a home is built with love and dreams" -Ralph Waldo Emerson

Table of Contents

	Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	.10
	Abstract	.13
	My journey Thesis development	15 15
	Context of thesis	.16
	List of publications	.17
	Thesis at a glance	18
	Abbreviations	.19
	Setting the scene	20
Intro	duction	21
	Living with Parkinson's disease	21
	Health of people with Parkinson's disease	22
	Consequences of Parkinson's disease in activities of daily living	23
	Rehabilitation of people with Parkinson's disease	23
	Occupational therapy for people with Parkinson's disease	24
	People with Parkinson's disease and housing	
	Housing context	
	Core concepts and theories in housing and the relation to health	27
	The focus on housing and health for people with PD in this thesis	32
Aim.		34
	Specific aims:	34
Meth	od	35
	Overall study design	35
	Recruitment and participants	
	Home and health in people aging with Parkinson's disease (HHPD)	. 36
	Changes in objective housing over time	37
	Psychometric evaluations	
	Directions of relationship between control beliefs related to	
	the home and ADL	
	Procedures	.40

Parkinson's disease characteristics 40 Objective housing 41 Perceived housing 42 Activities of daily living 43 Statistical analyses 44 Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs and activities 57 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts	Instruments and clinical assessments	40
Objective housing 41 Perceived housing 42 Activities of daily living 43 Statistical analyses 44 Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodol	Parkinson's disease characteristics	40
Perceived housing 42 Activities of daily living 43 Statistical analyses 44 Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results	Objective housing	41
Activities of daily living 43 Statistical analyses 44 Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67<	Perceived housing	42
Statistical analyses 44 Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Structural validitions 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies	Activities of daily living	43
Changes in objective housing 44 Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 <	Statistical analyses	44
Psychometric evaluations 44 Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 7	Changes in objective housing	44
Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL	Psychometric evaluations	44
the home and ADL 46 Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 64 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications	Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to	
Ethical considerations 47 Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72	the home and ADL	46
Results 49 Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73 <th>Ethical considerations</th> <th>47</th>	Ethical considerations	47
Changes in objective housing over time 49 Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing. 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened. 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Results	49
Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing 51 Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Changes in objective housing over time	49
Data quality 51 Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing	51
Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened. 52 Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Data quality	51
Construct validity 53 Scaling assumptions 54 Floor and ceiling effects 55 Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened	52
Scaling assumptions	Construct validity	53
Floor and ceiling effects	Scaling assumptions	54
Reliability 55 Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Floor and ceiling effects	55
Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to 55 Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations. 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Reliability	55
Discussion 57 Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs 57 Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities 59 Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL	55
Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs	Discussion	57
Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living Occupational therapy practices and housing Methodological considerations Core concepts 60 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements	Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs	
Exploring housing accessionity, control beners and activities of daily living Occupational therapy practices and housing Methodological considerations Core concepts Frameworks and models Methodological reflections Strengths and limitations 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements	Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities	
Occupational therapy practices and housing 60 The relevance of housing for health promotion 62 Theoretical considerations 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	of daily living	
The relevance of housing for health promotion	Occupational therapy practices and housing	60
Theoretical considerations. 64 Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections. 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	The relevance of housing for health promotion	62
Core concepts 64 Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Theoretical considerations	64
Frameworks and models 66 Methodological reflections 67 Strengths and limitations 68 Conclusions 70 Implications for practice, research, and policies 71 Future perspectives 72 Acknowledgements 73	Core concepts	64
Methodological reflections	Frameworks and models	66
Strengths and limitations	Methodological reflections	67
Conclusions	Strengths and limitations	68
Implications for practice, research, and policies	Conclusions	70
Future perspectives	Implications for practice, research, and policies	71
Acknowledgements	Future perspectives	72
	Acknowledgements	73

References	.75
Appendix I-III	.88
Appendix I. The original version of the Meaning of Home Questionnaire Appendix 2. The new revised version of the Meaning of Home	.89
Questionnaire	.91
Housing-related control beliefs Questionnaire (HCQ)	.93
Paper I-IV	.95

Svensk populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Miljöns betydelse för hälsa är välkänd och en stödjande miljö är viktigt för att kunna vara så självständig som möjlig och bo kvar i sin bostad. Personer som lever med Parkinsons sjukdom (PS) upplever ofta svårigheter i aktiviteter i det dagliga livet (ADL); därför är det viktigt att de miljöer personen vistas i gynnar personens aktiviteter. Trots att PS är en av de vanligaste neurologiska sjukdomarna, har forskning visat att kunskap saknas om bostäder för personer som lever med PS.

Denna avhandling syftar till att öka kunskapen om flera aspekter av boendet för personer med PS. Forskningen bidrar med ny kunskap om såväl tillgänglighet som upplevda aspekter av bostäder för personer med PS som bor i ordinärt boende i Sverige.

Att leva med Parkinsons sjukdom

PS är en livslång fortskridande neurologisk sjukdom som cirka 20 000 personer lever med i Sverige idag. Förekomsten ökar med ålder och antalet personer som lever med PS väntas dubbleras till 2040. Att leva med PS är förknippat med både kroppsliga och icke-kroppsliga symtom, så som stelhet, nedsatt balans, skakningar, långsamma rörelser, kognitiv nedsättning och ökad trötthet. Symtomen upplevs ofta som svåra att kontrollera och förutse, vilket leder till olika konsekvenser i vardagen. Bland annat upplever personer med PS ofta svårigheter i aktiviteter i det dagliga livet (ADL), ofta redan vid diagnos.

Personer med PS erbjuds ofta medicinsk behandling, men eftersom det inte finns något botemedel för sjukdomen krävs det ofta rehabiliterande insatser för att hantera konsekvenserna av sjukdomen. Rehabiliteringens mål är att öka hälsa och välbefinnande och ges ofta i multidisciplinära team där flera professioner inblandade. Arbetsterapeuter är inte sällan en del av de team som personer med PS träffar, med ett specifikt fokus på de aktiviteter som personen vill och behöver göra i den miljön personen befinner sig.

Parkinsons sjukdom och boende

Hur man klarar att utföra sina aktiviteter beror bland annat på den miljö man befinner sig i. Bostaden är en miljö där många tillbringar mycket tid, och därmed är den också platsen för många aktiviteter. För den generellt åldrande befolkningen har bostaden visat sig ha stor betydelse för hälsa. Trots det, saknas kunskap om bostäder för olika grupper av den åldrande befolkningen, och för personer med PS har detta konstaterats vara en kunskapslucka. Därför är syftet med avhandlingen att öka kunskapen om olika aspekter av boendet för personer med PS. Detta har studerats genom att utforska tillgänglighet och upplevda aspekter av bostaden. Avhandling innehåller fyra vetenskapliga artiklar och kvantitativa metoder har använts för att svara på syftet. Data som används i avhandlingen samlades in genom frågeformulär och bedömningar vid hembesök hos personer med PS.

Studier i avhandlingen

Studie I undersökte miljöhinder och tillgänglighetsproblem i bostäder för personer med PS. Resultatet visade att de tio hinder som gav mest tillgänglighetsproblem var i stort sett de samma i en uppföljning efter tre år. Miljöhindren "Brist på handtag i badrum", "Trappa var enda vägen" i entréer och "Väggplacerade skåp och hyllor var högt placerade" i kök bidrog till mest tillgänglighetsproblem vid första mättillfället, medan att "Soptunna var svårt" i utomhusmiljön bidrog till mest problem vid uppföljningen. Denna kunskap kan användas i individuell rehabilitering för att möjliggöra mer förutseende och effektiva bostadsanpassningar för personer med PS. Resultatet tyder också på att man inte kommer åt alla hinder enbart genom individuell rehabilitering, utan att vissa behöver avhjälpas genom samhälleliga åtgärder, som exemplet med soptunnorna.

Upplevda aspekterna av boendet studerades med frågeformulär. När man använder frågeformulär i en ny grupp, i detta fall personer med PS, behöver man utvärdera så att dessa är stabila och tillförlitliga för gruppen. Därför utvärderar Studie II och III mätegenskaper för två frågeformulär som mäter upplevda aspekter av boendet. Det ena formuläret heter Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH) och mäter om person upplever sitt hem som meningsfullt. Det andra formuläret heter external Housing-Related Control Belief Questionnaire (HCQ) och mäter tron på extern kontroll i förhållande till bostaden, dvs om man tror att andra personer kommer hjälpa en; eller om man tror på chansen eller slumpen i relation till sitt hem, tex att det beror på slumpen om man kan bo kvar i sin bostad. Studierna visade att något anpassade versioner av frågeformulären bör användas för att mäta mening och extern tro på kontroll i relation till hemmet för personer med PS. Denna grundläggande forskning är en förutsättning för att studier gällande upplevda aspekter av boende ska hålla hög kvalité gäller framöver.

Studie IV utforskar förhållandet mellan tro på extern kontroll i förhållande till bostaden och ADL över tid. Tidigare forskning har visat att det finns ett samband mellan tro på extern kontroll i förhållande till bostaden och svårigheter i ADL för personer med PS, men ingen har undersökt på om extern kontroll i förhållande till bostaden påverkar svårigheter i ADL eller tvärtom. Därför undersöktes båda möjliga riktningarna av detta förhållande i Studie IV. Resultatet visar att svårigheter i svårigheter i ADL påverkar tron på extern kontroll i förhållande till bostaden. Dessa resultat är i motsats till vad tidigare miljögerontologisk litteratur visat och behöver därför utvärderas av andra studier. Denna nya kunskap bidrar till en ökad förståelse för relationen mellan boende och hälsa för personer med PS. Sammanfattningsvis kan kunskapen från denna avhandling användas av arbetsterapeuter som jobbar med individuell rehabilitering, men den kan också användas på samhällsnivå för att möta de behov personer med PS har när det gäller bostäder. Avhandlingen bidrar också med grundläggande kunskap om hur frågeformulär som mäter upplevda aspekter av bostaden bör användas för personer med PS, vilket möjliggör forskning av god kvalité när det gäller upplevda aspekter av boendet framöver. Kunskap om relationen mellan upplevda aspekter av bostaden och hälsa (ADL) för personer med PS fördjupades också i avhandlingen. Detta är viktigt för att fortsatt bygga en kunskapsbas och öka förståelsen för relationen mellan boende och hälsa för personer med PS.

Abstract

Parkinson's disease (PD) is one of the most common neurological diseases with both motor and non-motor symptoms that can be perceived as difficult to control despite medical treatment. This leads to several consequences in everyday life for example difficulties in activities of daily living (ADL), sometimes already at diagnosis. Therefore, rehabilitation is important to manage the consequences of the disease and to improve health. Furthermore, ADL performance is dependent on the environment one interacts with, and housing is one environment associated with different health outcomes in the ageing population. However, housing matters constitutes a knowledge gap for people with PD. Therefore, the overall aim of this thesis was to increase the knowledge of housing matters for people with PD living in ordinary housing in Sweden, covering both objective and perceived aspect of housing. Furthermore, psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing were performed.

This thesis has a quantitative approach and is based on baseline and three-year follow-up data from the longitudinal study "Home and health in people ageing with PD" (HHPD). The data collection was done through questionnaires and clinical assessments at home visits. Study I was a three-year cohort study that included 138 participants and explored environmental barriers and housing accessibility for people with PD. Both parametric and non-parametric statistics were used to explore change over time. The results show that the top ten environmental barriers that generated accessibility problems were largely the same over the three years, although with notable changes in order and magnitude. Barriers in hygiene areas, kitchens and entrances were ranked at the top at baseline, while a barrier in the exterior surrounding generated the most accessibility problems after three years. Studies II and III were cross-sectional and evaluated psychometric properties of the Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH) and external Housing-Related Control Belief Questionnaire (HCQ) for 145 participants each. Data quality, structural validity, construct validity, scaling assumptions, floor- and ceiling effects and internal consistency reliability were evaluated. The results of both studies suggested revised versions of the instruments based on the evaluation of structural validity. Further evaluations showed that data quality was high and construct validity was largely supported for both instruments. Also, internal consistency and homogeneity of the instruments surpassed the recommended values in both studies. Study IV was a cohort study including 154 participants at baseline and at follow-up, that explored the direction of the relationship between external housing-related control beliefs and ADL. Linear and logistic regression analyses were used. The results suggest that difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, while the other direction could not be confirmed. This finding regarding people with PD is contrary to theories in environmental gerontology.

The findings from this thesis can be applied in several ways. The knowledge of accessibility problems can be used in individual rehabilitation to enable more farsighted housing adaptations for people with PD. However, not all problems can be efficiently solved through individual rehabilitation, rather some should be addressed on the societal level to meet some of the housing needs for people with PD. The psychometric evaluation suggested that the revised versions of MOH and external HCQ are reliable and valid for use among people with PD, which is a prerequisite to enable high quality research on perceived housing. The novel findings that difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, add to the overall understanding of housing and health interactions for people with PD.

My journey

During my undergraduate studies in occupational therapy, my fellow students and I were encouraged to read current scientific articles on the topics addressed in our education. This sparked an interest to know more, and my interest continued to grow as I started working at a neurorehabilitation clinic with close ties to research. With inspiring colleagues and role models who pushed me to pursue my interest further I started my master's degree. When a PhD position exploring housing aspects for people with Parkinson's diseases (PD) was announced, I was just about to finish my master. Becoming a doctoral student had been a dream for a long time, so I felt like it was now or never.

As an occupational therapist I have often addressed housing matters (mainly housing accessibility) in rehabilitation for people with PD to enable them to deal with consequences of the disease and maintain daily activities. When I started as a PhD student in the summer of 2018, it was with that clinical perspective I went into the PhD project. It has been very exciting to be part of a project that has been close to my clinical experiences and that has addressed aspects that I have dealt with and also wanted to know more about as a clinician. Personally, I have learnt so much during this education, but I also hope that the scientific knowledge and practical implications gained from this thesis can be applied in individual rehabilitation and on a societal level as well as in research, to further develop our knowledge of housing matters for people with PD.

Thesis development

Given my background in rehabilitation, it felt natural to address an aspect of housing that would be familiar to occupational therapists working with people with PD, namely housing accessibility. As I learned more about housing, I realised there were other considerations to be aware of. Although perceived housing is an established research topic in other research fields, it is an uncommon in both occupational therapy and PD research. Two instruments that address perceived housing were therefore explored in this thesis. A methodological study addressing both instruments was planned to ensure that they were psychometrically sound for use in a PD population. However, because the results of the two instruments developed in different ways, the psychometric study was split into two by necessity. This decision affected the overarching plan for the four studies included in the thesis, which led to a removal of an intended qualitative study.

Context of thesis

This thesis in health sciences, with a focus on occupational therapy, was carried out in the research group Active and Healthy Ageing at the Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine at Lund University. The research group is affiliated with the interdisciplinary Centre for Ageing and Supportive Environments (CASE). The learning process of the author was supported by the Swedish National Graduate School on Ageing and Health (SWEAH) and Multidisciplinary Research on Parkinson's disease (MultiPark).

All the data in this thesis come from the longitudinal cohort study "Home and health in people ageing with Parkinson's disease" (PI: M.H. Nilsson), which is a part of the "Home, Health and Disability along the Process of Ageing" programme (PI:S. Iwarsson).

List of publications

- I. Andersson, N., Slaug, B., Nilsson, M.H., & Iwarsson, S. (2021). Environmental barriers and housing accessibility problems for people with Parkinson's disease. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 6:1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2021.200799
- II. Andersson, N., Nilsson, MH., Slaug, B., Oswald, F., & Iwarsson, S. (2020). The meaning of home questionnaire revisited: Psychometric analyses among people with Parkinson's disease reveals new dimensions. *PLoS ONE 15*(12):e0242792. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0242792
- III. Andersson, N., Nilsson, M.H., Slaug, B., Oswald, F., & Iwarsson, S. (2020). Psychometric properties of the external Housing-Related Control Beliefs Questionnaire mong people with Parkinson's disease. *Ageing Clinical and Experimental Research*, 32:12:2639-2647. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2012.2007998
- IV. Andersson, N., Iwarsson, S., Ullén, S., Slaug, B., & Nilsson, M.N. Exploring the directions of the relationship between Housing-Related Control Beliefs and Activities of Daily Living among people with Parkinson's Disease: A Three-year Follow-up Study. Submitted.

Thesis at a glance

Study I. Changes in objective housing	
Aim	To determine the most severe environmental barriers in terms of housing accessibility problems and how these evolve over three years among people with PD.
Method	This was a cohort study (N=138), including baseline and three-year follow-up data. Data were collected during interviews and clinical assessments at home visits. Statistics used were paired samples t-test and McNemar's test.
Results	The ten most prevalent barriers remained largely the same over the three years, but with notable change in order and magnitude. Items in hygiene areas, entrances and kitchen generated the most accessibility problems at baseline, while at follow-up a barrier in the exterior surroundings was ranked at the top. Exploring the summed magnitude of accessibility problems for the top ten barriers per housing section showed that the exterior surrounding was the only section that increased significantly over three years.
Conclusion	Knowledge on how accessibility problems evolve over time for people with PD could be applied in rehabilitation but must also be addressed systematically on the societal level.
Study II. Psyc	chometric evaluation of Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH)
Aim	To examine the psychometric properties of MOH Questionnaire, to identify whether it is valid and reliable for use for people with PD.
Method	This was a cross-sectional study (N=245) using baseline data. Data were collected during interviews and clinical assessments at home visits. Evaluation of data quality, structural validity, floor and ceiling effects, corrected item total correlations, internal consistency and construct validity (convergent and discriminant) were made.
Result	Structural validity suggested a removal of five items and revealed three new factors: "My home is my castle", "My home is my prison" and "My home is my social hub". In the revised MOH version, the corrected item total correlations were >0.3 for all items and internal consistency was >0.70 for all sub-scales. No floor or ceiling effects were found, except for the sub-scale "My home is my castle". Also, construct validity was largely supported.
Conclusion	The revised version of MOH was reliable and valid for use in a PD population.
Study III. Psy	chometric evaluation of external Housing-Related Control belief Questionnaire (HCQ)
Aim	To examine the psychometric properties of external HCQ, to identify whether it is valid and reliable for use for people with PD.
Method	This was a cross-sectional study (N=245) using baseline data. Data were collected during interviews and clinical assessments at home visits. Evaluation of data quality, structural validity, floor and ceiling effects, corrected item-total correlations, internal consistency, and construct validity (known group and convergent) were made.
Result	Structural validity showed a unidimensional construct with the removal of two items. In this revised version of external HCQ, internal consistency was >0.70 and the corrected item-total correlation was >0.30 for all items. No floor or ceiling effects were found and construct validity was supported.
Conclusion	The revised version of external HCQ was reliable and valid for use in a PD population.
Study IV. The	directions of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL
Aim	To explore the direction of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL among people with PD.
Method	This was a cohort study (N=154), including both baseline and three-year follow-up data. Data were collected during interviews and clinical assessments at home visits. Both linear and logistic regression analyses were applied.
Result	The adjusted linear regression analysis showed that more difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, supporting hypothesis 1. However, hypothesis 2 was not supported, by the adjusted logistic regression analysis.
Conclusion	In contrast to gerontological theories addressing older adults, this study suggests that more difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home among people with PD, and not the other way around.

Abbreviations

ADL	Activities of Daily Living
CTT	Classical Test Theory
ETA	Ecological Theory of Ageing
GDS	Geriatric Depression Scale
GSE	General Self-Efficacy scale
HCQ	Housing-Related Control Belief questionnaire
HE	Housing Enabler Instrument
HHPD	The longitudinal cohort study "Housing and health in people ageing with Parkinson's disease"
HY	Hoehn & Yahr scale
Lisat-11	Life Satisfaction Questionnaire -11
МОН	Meaning of Home Questionnaire
MoCA	Montreal Cognitive Assessment
PADLS	Parkinson's disease Activity of Daily Living Scale
PD	Parkinson's disease
P-E fit	Person-Environment fit
РЕОР	Person-Environment-Occupation-Performance model
QoL	Quality of Life
RAPS	Relative Accessibility Problem Score
SEM	Standard Error of Measurement
UIMH	Usability in My Home Questionnaire
UPDRS	Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale
WHO	World Health Organization

Setting the scene

PD research is a large and ground-breaking field. Many aspects of the disease are addressed, such as mechanisms of the disease, medications, treatments and care and rehabilitation of the disease. Furthermore, there is literature addressing aspects of living and ageing with PD, covering activities of daily living (ADL), quality of life (QoL) and well-being. However, there is a notable knowledge gap on housing matters for people with PD.

In general, people age in their homes regardless of health decline and disabilities. Furthermore, housing has shown to be important for various health aspects in the general older population, but little is known for different sub-groups. PD is one of the most common neurological diseases and its incidence is expected to increase. As there are no curative treatments for PD, rehabilitation interventions are needed to cope with the consequences of the disease. As part of the rehabilitation team, occupational therapists often address the environment that a person lives in to compensate for disease symptoms affecting daily activities. People living with PD have expressed a desire to age in their own homes, which makes housing an important area to address to meet the housing needs of people living with PD.

Introduction

Living with Parkinson's disease

Parkinsons disease (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder caused by dopaminergic cell death in the brain (Váradi, 2020). This cell death makes it harder for the brain to control the nerve signals regulating body movements. There is limited knowledge on what causes PD, although both environmental and genetic factors are considered (Kalia & Lang, 2015). PD is uncommon among people younger than 40 years but it affects 1-2% of adults over the age of 65 and 4% over 85 (Váradi, 2020). This makes PD the second most common neurological disease, and its incidence increases with age. As life expectancy grows globally, the number of people with PD is expected to double with over 12 million people by 2040 (Dorsey et al., 2018). The onset of the disease is around 60 years and the majority of people with PD are older adults, which implies that people living with PD represents an ageing population (Fereshtehnejad & Lökk, 2014). Despite this, older people are often excluded from PD research (Fitzsimmons et al., 2012).

There are no tests to confirm a PD diagnosis as it is based purely on clinical observations and assessments of motor symptoms. The characteristic symptoms of PD are bradykinesia (slowness of movements), rigidity (stiffness), tremor (shaking) and postural instability (poor balance) (Postuma et al., 2015). Although the disease is associated with motor-symptoms, non-motor symptoms are also common such as sleep disturbance, cognitive impairments, depression, anxiety, pain, fatigue, olfactory dysfunction and autonomic dysfunction (e.g. constipation, high blood pressure). The non-motor symptoms are more frequent early in the disease, even before diagnosis, and are associated with decreased health related QoL. The progression of the disease is often characterised by motor symptoms deteriorating over time and with an increased complexity (Kalia & Lang, 2015).

There is no curative treatment for PD, meaning that all available treatments are symptomatic (Kalia & Lang, 2015). In the early phase of PD, medication with levodopa is often effective. However, as the disease progresses, the effect of medical treatment decreases and "on and off fluctuations" become more common. "On" indicate that medication is effective and PD symptoms are somewhat reduced, while "off" refers to periods with more PD symptoms (Hickey & Stacy, 2016). More advanced treatments can benefit persons with severe PD, such as deep brain stimulation (DBS) (Bratsos et al., 2018) or continuous medicine through a pump

(Hickey & Stacy, 2016). For the last decade clinical trials have been ongoing to treat PD with stem cell therapies (Parmar, 2018). Furthermore, the late stages of PD are associated with significant costs to society due to treatments and formal care (Hjalte et al., 2021).

Both motor and non-motor symptoms fluctuate in PD, and the disease can therefore be perceived as unpredictable and difficult to control (Chaudhuri et al., 2011). Thus, living with PD affects health in several ways.

Health of people with Parkinson's disease

In 1948 the WHO published a highly influential definition of health, viewing it from a broad perspective as a state of well-being: "Health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (WHO, 1948). This definition has been criticised foremost for using the word "complete" in relation to well-being, which becomes particularly difficult in relation to people living with a chronic disease (Huber et al., 2011). Instead, Huber and colleagues (2011) suggested a definition of health as "the ability to adapt and selfmanage". This definition seems to be more suitable in relation to people with PD, as it reflects that positive aspects of health can be experienced despite functional limitations. The Huber definition of health is also in line with a basic assumption in occupational therapy, that activity promotes health and wellbeing. From this perspective, health is often viewed as being able to do what you find meaningful and need, in a desired way within the persons context (Christiansen et al., 2015; Swedish Association of Occupational Therapists, 2018). Furthermore, when asking older adults to define health the ability to do activities independently and managing symptoms were important factors (Song & Kong, 2015), which supports Huber's definition.

When addressing health in a population the concept public health is often used. This can apply to a country's population but it can also cover smaller groups such as the ageing population or people with a specific diagnosis. Two common approaches to address public health are health prevention and health promotion. Health prevention is intended to prevent disease and ill health, whereas health promotion builds on health factors to support health. That is, health promotion can mean supporting health for people living with a disease (Wilhelmsson & Tengland, 2016). The World Health Organization (WHO) recently published a report about people with PD that applies a public health responses to meet the health requirements of people with PD and suggests interventions on several levels, such as prevention, including the reduction of risks for PD, global health policies to support people with PD as well as increased access to treatment, care and rehabilitation to manage the consequences of the disease (promotion) (WHO, 2022a).

Consequences of Parkinson's disease in activities of daily living

Living with a chronic disease like PD affects everyday life in many ways (Thordardottir et al., 2014; Sjödahl-Hammarlund et al., 2018; Sperens et al., 2020). One consequence of PD is that the symptoms lead to difficulties in activities of daily living (ADL), which can arise already before diagnosis (Hariz & Forsgren, 2011). ADL is a widely used measure of disability (Katz et al., 1963) that affect health. It covers fundamental skills needed to care for oneself in daily life, and covers both personal (P)ADL (e.g. eating, dressing, bathing and walking) and instrumental (I)ADL (e.g. cleaning, shopping, and transportation) (Mlilanic & Feng, 2016). Activity limitations for people with PD commonly cover both PADL and IADL (Hariz & Forsgren, 2011; Sperens et al., 2020) and deteriorate as the disease progresses (Sperens et al, 2020). Examples of PADL that can be affected are eating, toilette activities, dressing, personal hygiene, and communication (Sperens et al., 2020). Furthermore, gait and mobility are often affected for people with PD (Mirelman et al., 2019), which not only impact walking itself but also other more complex activities that require walking (Hammarlund et al., 2014). This leads to a high risk of falling (Mirelman et al., 2019) and fear of falling is common (Jonasson et al., 2018). Walking is important for independence, and people with PD have expressed walking as a prerequisite for living an independent life and participating in society (Hammarlund et al., 2014).

In terms of IADL, cooking, shopping and cleaning are reported to be affected over time (Sperens et al., 2020). Work is yet another activity that can be affected due to the symptoms of the disease. Research has shown that people with PD have problems to managing workload (Jennum et al., 2011) and report more sick leave than controls (Timpka et al., 2018). In sum, the consequence of PD affects many ADL, which in turn impact aspects of health such as QoL and well-being for people with PD (Hariz & Forsgren, 2011; Vescovelli et al., 2018). ADL is often a common focus for assessment and intervention in rehabilitation for people with PD.

Rehabilitation of people with Parkinson's disease

The primary goal of rehabilitation is to support health and well-being by optimizing function and reducing disability for people with health conditions (WHO, 2022b). There are different kinds of collaborative teams in rehabilitation. For example, monodisciplinary teams are centred around a physician who asks other professionals for assessments or interventions on a consultation basis, whereas multidisciplinary rehabilitation involves several health care professionals who work independently and in parallel within their disciplines to address the person of interest. An interdisciplinary approach is an extension of the multidisciplinary team, but with more coordinated and complex interventions and with a clear person-centred approach (Lidstone et al., 2020). Due to the complexity and progression of the

disease, a multidisciplinary or an interdisciplinary team approach has been suggested to best meet the needs of people with PD (National Board of Health and Welfare, 2016; Lidstone et al., 2020; WHO, 2022b). It can be delivered in different settings such as inpatients, outpatients and in community settings and should cover both assessments and intervention (Lidstone et al., 2020). The rehabilitation teams can consist of different professionals, but commonly include physicians, nurses, occupational therapists, physiotherapists and social workers (Lidstone et al., 2020). Rehabilitation in general is built on three types of interventions, to eliminate, compensate and exercise (Lexell & Rivano-Fischer, 2017), although a literature review covering PD showed that interventions addressing exercise and education are most common in PD rehabilitation (Lidstone et al., 2020). Furthermore, multidisciplinary interventions have been shown to improve functional limitations, reduce falls and improve health-related QoL (Lidstone et al., 2020). Despite this, only 16% of the 105 countries covered in the WHO report (WHO, 2022b) can offer specialised rehabilitation services for people with PD worldwide.

National guidelines for supporting the treatment, care and rehabilitation of people with PD in Sweden have been published (National Board of Health and Welfare, 2016). According to the guidelines, regular check-ups should be offered to people with PD twice a year by an experienced neurologist. This commonly takes place at specialised outpatient neurology or geriatric clinics in Sweden, although some people with PD receive such care via primary care. The national guidelines also recommend interdisciplinary team rehabilitation to optimise function, reduce disability and to teach people how to cope with the disease (National Board of Health and Welfare, 2016). Also, health staff employed in Swedish municipalities can support people with PD in their homes with mobility aids, environmental adaptations, physical exercise or other interventions. This is often done using a multidisciplinary team approach (Giladi et al., 2014; National Board of Health and Welfare, 2016). Team-based rehabilitation in a community setting has been shown to improve mobility and ADL for people with PD (Clarke et al., 2016).

Occupational therapy for people with Parkinson's disease

As described, occupational therapists are often involved in PD rehabilitation (Meek et al., 2010; Jansa et al., 2011; Chapman & Nelson, 2014; Lidstone et al., 2020). Due to the progression of the disease (Váradi, 2020), contact with an occupational therapist is often needed over manly years. Typical occupational therapy interventions for people with PD address compensatory strategies such as mobility aids or adjusting the home environment, information about the disease and the consequences or training skills in activities (Gage & Storey, 2004; Sturkenboom et al., 2014; Lidstone., 2020). Occupational therapy improves self-perceived performance in meaningful activities (Sturkenboom et al., 2014) and has an effect on mobility, independence in ADL and QoL (Gage & Storey, 2004).

Furthermore, occupational therapy research and practice have the potential to provide knowledge on the societal level that goes beyond individual rehabilitation (Iwarsson, 2022a). That is, health professionals should pursue health promotion by working on health policies and supportive environments, for example as part of a public health approach (WHO, 1948). Such an overarching perspective has also been recognised in occupational therapy literature (Law et al., 1996; Iwarsson, 2022a), but is still an uncommon approach in both practice and research. A public health approach was also recently highlighted in WHO's report on people with PD, which outlined key actions for the future such as advocacy and awareness raising, strengthening health and social systems and career support for people with PD (WHO, 2022a). In such health promotion efforts, occupational therapists could contribute with their specific knowledge on the transaction between the person, environment and occupation and their relation to health.

Many occupational therapy theories have acknowledged the relationship between the person, the environment, and the occupation (Townsend & Polatajko, 2007; Baum et al., 2015; Fisher & Martella, 2019). The Person-Environment-Occupation-Performance (PEOP) model is a transactional model that includes these three aspects, with occupational performance as the main outcome and the primary goal of supporting participation and well-being. The close overlap or fit between the person, environment and occupation generates a more optimal occupational performance. However, a change in any of these aspects can affect occupational performance in either positively or negatively (Baum et al., 2015). Based on theories addressing the environmental perspective (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973), PEOP underscores the interdependent transaction of the person and the environment as important (Baum et al., 2015). To address occupational performance and well-being at large, an understanding of underlying aspects, such as the person-environment transaction, are important. With a progressively declining disease such as PD (Váradi, 2020), this person-environment transaction is likely to change due to the nature of the disease and must therefore be re-evaluated regularly to support occupational performance over time. PEOP also recognises that the environment can facilitate or hinder occupational performance and therefore underlines that the environment is an important factor especially when addressing vulnerable populations (Christiansen et al., 2015), such as people with PD.

Furthermore, activity and occupation are a strong focus in occupational therapy (Swedish Association of Occupational Therapists, 2018). Although the two concepts are different, they are in many cases used interchangeably (Pierce, 2001). This thesis will mainly focus on activity hence forward. Also, when assessing activity performance, ADL measures are often used (Christiansen et al., 2015). Although these measures are widely applied, there are different ways of evaluating ADL (Law et al., 2005). One of the most common approaches is to address ADL through independence/dependence, that is, what a person can manage by themselves or dependence on assistance or/help from others (Katz et al., 1963; Law et al., 2005).

This has proved to be informative, but with low variance in the responses. By addressing difficulties in ADL instead, the measure becomes more sensitive and gives a more diversified picture of ADL (Iwarsson et al., 2009). Such considerations are important, as ADL is often used both as goals and means in rehabilitation (Strukenboom et al., 2014; Swedish Association of Occupational Therapists, 2018).

People with Parkinson's disease and housing

When people perform activities, they interact with their environment (Christiansen et al., 2015). Older adults have reported to spend up to 72% of their time on their homes (Spalt et al., 2016), making this a major arena for ADL. As both the general ageing population and people ageing with a chronic disease are increasing (Chatterji et al., 2015), addressing housing issues is vital to meet the housing needs for different sub-groups of the ageing population.

Housing has been acknowledged to have major implications for health globally (WHO, 2018), yet research on housing is scarce for people with PD (Iwarsson et al., 2022b). An example of the absence of addressing housing in PD research is the proposed framework addressing ageing among people with PD, called "Active Aging Model for Parkinson's disease" (Fereshtehnejad & Lökk, 2014). Although housing is described to be important in the ageing process (Roy et al., 2018; Oswald & Wahl, 2019), environmental considerations are not mentioned in the framework regarding people ageing with PD (Fereshtehnejad & Lökk, 2014). The scarce existing literature addressing housing for people with PD focuses on aspects of admission to nursing homes, sensors in housing to monitor movements or housing adaptations (Vossius et al., 2009; Bhidaysairi et al., 2015; Stack et al., 2016).

Housing context

Housing, or the need for shelter, is a fundamental human need (Gonyea, 2021). In Sweden, society has an overall responsibility, shared between the state and the municipalities, for providing housing to the population. This responsibility covers the provision of both ordinary housing and residential care facilities (SOU, 2015:85). Sweden, like many western countries, strongly promotes an ageing in place policy that encourages older people to age in their homes (Pani-Harreman et al., 2021). Although, there are few definitions of ageing in place, Grimmer and colleagues (2015) speak about it as the possibility to remain at home in old age for as long as possible, without having to move to a long-term care facility. Also, when older people are asked what they want, many express the wish to stay at home for as long as possible (AARP, 2011; Wiles et al., 2012), emphasising that they want to decide for themselves where and how they want to live as they age (Wiles et al.,

2012). Despite well-developed home-care systems to support older people at home (e.g. home care services, housing adaptations, safety alarms) in Sweden, ageing in place systems also show weaknesses. Such as the risk of loneliness and social isolation due to functional limitations and lack of social support (Herbert & Molinsky, 2019). A recent literature review concluded that attachment to the home and social networks play an important part in the ageing in place policy. That is, psychological aspects related to housing, for example emotional bonds to the home, could hinder people from moving to more physically appropriate homes. This affects how ageing in place should be addressed; it is not merely the building or town that one has lived in for a long time, but relates to social bonds and the psychological aspects of housing (Pani-Harreman et al., 2021). This shifts the focus from ageing in place to ageing in the right place.

Concerning the built environment, the most common type of buildings in Sweden for people over 60 is single-family houses (54 %), followed by apartment buildings (41 %) and residential care facilities (3%) (Statistics Sweden, 2022). The European Commission considers the housing standard in Sweden as high (2015), even though the Swedish authorities wants an increased focus on housing issues to promote accessibility of the housing stock. To exemplify accessibility problems, government reports highlight that for people over 60 living in apartment buildings, about half do not have elevators in their homes (SOU, 2015:85). Furthermore, research on housing in the ageing population also acknowledges the complexity of meeting the demands for suitable housing for all people despite functional limitations and individual accessibility problems (Granbom et al., 2016; Pettersson et al., 2018).

Furthermore, with the recent health care reform "good local care" (In Swedish: God och nära vård) (SOU 2020:19), more and more care and rehabilitation will take place in people's homes in the near future. This shift towards a wider use of the home as a place of care and rehabilitation will be challenging for healthcare, communities and the person living there. Therefore, it is important to increase our understanding of different housing aspects in general and for specific sub-groups as well as in relation to the places where rehabilitation will be carried out.

Core concepts and theories in housing and the relation to health

Housing is a multifaceted concept that has been explored in several research fields such as public health, economics, social sciences and gerontology (Oswald & Wahl, 2004; Grander, 2017; Anacker, 2019; Rolfe et al., 2020). In a systematic review, Roy and colleagues (2018) suggest factors related to housing in six dimensions: built and natural environment; time and space-time; economic; socioeconomic and health; psychological and psychosocial and social. Although this review addresses housing decisions in relation to relocation (Roy et al., 2018), these dimensions are also highly relevant for other housing matters. Interestingly, it was found that the effects of specific population characteristics in relation to housing is understudied

for the general older population (Roy et al., 2018), which also specifically applies for people with PD (Iwarsson et al., 2022b).

In the research field of environmental gerontology, there is an assumption that the interaction between the person (P) and the environment (E) affects health in different ways (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973; Oswald & Wahl, 2019). It has been argued that both physical as well as psychological competencies and preferences of the person interacts with the physical environment in complex ways and cannot be separated (Lawton, 2001; Oswald & Wahl, 2004; Oswald & Wahl, 2019). In an attempt to integrate and expand environmental concepts, frameworks have suggested that both objective and perceived aspects of housing need to be addressed (Wahl & Oswald, 2016; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). These frameworks build on empirical findings that have confirmed the relation between objective and perceived housing (Nygren et al., 2007; Wahl et al., 2009; Tomsone et al., 2013).

Objective housing

Objective housing refers to objectively observable physical design features (such as houses built with attributes like walls, floor and stairs) that influence human behaviour (Oswald & Wahl, 2004) and thereby affect a person's well-being and independence. This concept is based on the "Ecological theory of ageing" (ETA) (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973), which highlights the person-environment (P-E) fit. That is, the person (P) has a set of competences (e.g., physical, cognitive and sensory) and the environment (E) is defined in terms of its demands or press (design features such as environmental barriers). The greater competences a person holds, the greater environmental press the person can handle. When the person has enough competencies to handle the environmental press, this results in a match called the P-E fit. One facet of the P-E fit in relation to the home is housing accessibility (Iwarsson & Ståhl, 2003). Among older adults, research has shown that a good P-E fit (less accessibility problems) is associated with higher life satisfaction, higher perceived health, and independence in ADL (Iwarsson et al., 2007; Wahl et al., 2009).

However, the P-E fit is not a static interaction, as both the persons capacities and the environmental press can change. Factors like old age or disease can bring a decline in competences, making people more vulnerable to environmental press and causing a lack of fit (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973). Living and ageing with Parkinson's disease comes with both motor and non-motor symptoms (Fereshtehnejad & Lökk, 2014), that is, decreased personal competencies according to the ETA. This group therefore has an increased risk for environmental press and objective housing in terms of housing accessibility problems is therefore an important aspect to explore for people with PD.

The research that exists on objective housing for people with PD typically addresses housing accessibility and housing adaptations. For example, it has been shown that

people with PD have more accessibility problems than controls, due to more functional limitations (Nilsson et al., 2013; Slaug et al., 2013). Housing accessibility has also been found to vary according to different disease stages (Hoehn & Yahr) (Slaug et al., 2017a). Two studies have also explored the environmental barriers causing most accessibility problems for people with PD. The barriers that contributed most to accessibility problems in both studies were: "Wall-mounted cupboard and shelves placed high" and "No grab bar at shower/bath and/or toilette" (Slaug et al., 2013; Slaug et al., 2017a), although only four out of the ten most prevalent barriers were the same when comparing the two studies. From an architectural perspective, the role of design features of the environment, including housing, has also been studied for people with PD. For example, design features such as pavement characteristics, unsteady surfaces and level differences were a cause of falls. Furthermore, ground-based obstacles and narrow spaces disturbed the gait (Ramos et al., 2020). Moreover, the evidence for environmental adaptations targeting people with PD has also been addressed in research. One literature review concluded that research-based evaluation strategies are needed to address housing adaptations due to a discrepancy of the P-E fit (Bhidayasiri et al., 2015). To promote accessible housing, it is important that occupational therapy practices and research explore key environmental barriers for people with PD in order to nurture efficient individual and societal interventions, not least because housing accessibility is associated with independence (Gefenaite et al., 2020a). Also, as PD is a progressive disease (Váradi et al., 2020), a longitudinal perspective on housing accessibility is needed to see how the P-E fit changes over time.

Perceived housing

When a person interacts with a space while doing activities or creating experiences, complex processes transform the space into a place (Rowles & Bernard, 2013). This is referred to as perceived housing and includes subjective experiences and symbolic representations related to the home that contribute to feelings of attachment (Oswald et al., 2006). This concept builds on theories of place attachment and identity (Low & Altman, 1992; Rubinstein & Parmelee, 1992; Stedman, 2002) and has been addressed in "the four-domain model of perceived housing". It comprises four facets including housing satisfaction, usability of the home, meaning of home and housingrelated control beliefs (Oswald et al., 2006). Both the "Agency and Belonging" framework (Wahl & Oswald, 2016) and the "Integrative conceptual framework of the P-E" (Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019) address and highlight two underlying processes of perceived housing, the behaviour-driven agency process and the experience-driven belonging process. Agency is the process of becoming an agency of change in one's own life through intentional and proactive behaviour imposed by the environment (Bandura, 2001). It includes reacting, compensating, adapting, retrofitting and sustaining the places in relation to the home (Oswald & Wahl, 2019). One example of an agency process is housing-related control beliefs, which are control beliefs in related to the home, such as believing in one's own abilities,

powerful others or chance. Belonging is a non-goal oriented process reflecting cognitive and emotional aspect of behaviour that make a space into a place over time. While belonging often increases with time, agency tends to decrease as people age. Furthermore, the processes of agency and belonging are related to health outcomes. Both frameworks include identity and autonomy as health outcomes (Wahl & Oswald, 2016; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019), although the "Agency and Belonging" framework also includes well-being and the overarching goal of ageing well (Wahl & Oswald, 2016). Empirical findings have informed these frameworks; for example, several studies have shown that perceived housing is associated with ADL, well-being and life satisfaction for older adults (Oswald et al., 2007a; Wahl et al., 2009; Tomsone et al., 2013; Kylén et al., 2017).

Meaning of home

Meaning of home refers to the subjective experience of personal meaning related to the home. It is a process manifested through symbolic representation, familiarity and routines that lead to meaningful bonds to the place. Meaning of home has been suggested to consist of several bonds to the home: physical, behavioural, cognitive, emotional and social bonds. A quantitative instrument has been developed to measure meaningfulness towards the home called, Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH) (Oswald & Wahl, 2004; 2005). Studies using this measure, indicate that there could be different meaning patterns for different groups with various impairments (Oswald & Wahl, 2005). For example, some findings support that meaning of home depends on the individual's health status, indicating that older adults with functional limitations seem to have a stronger bond to the home than older adults with no functional limitations (Wahl et al., 2009). As people with PD have both motor and non-motor symptoms that deteriorate over time (Váradi, 2020), meaning of home could be specific for people with PD.

Meaning of home has hardly been addressed in relation to people with PD (Nilsson et al., 2013; Nilsson et al., 2016). One study found that people with self-reported PD perceived less meaning towards the home regarding physical and behavioural aspects compared to matched controls (Nilsson et al., 2013). A second study found that people with PD who have more functional limitations perceived their housing as less meaningful from a behavioural point of view (Nilsson et al., 2016).

Housing-related control beliefs

Housing-related control beliefs address how people think they can deal with everyday issues within their home environment. This concept explains whether housing-related events are perceived as depending on one's own behaviour (internal control beliefs) or if one relies upon external influences (external control beliefs) (Oswald et al., 2003). External control beliefs include believing in chance, luck and fate as well as powerful others in relation to the home. Although, internal and external control beliefs are not direct opposites, high external control beliefs tend to be associated with low internal control beliefs and vice versa (Oswald et al., 2003; Oswald et al., 2007a). To measure housing-related control beliefs quantitatively, the Housing-Related Control Belief Questionnaire (HCQ) consisting of three sub-scales (internal control, external control: powerful others and external control: chance) was developed (Oswald et al., 2003). It was developed for and mainly used among older adults in the general population (Oswald et al., 2003; Oswald et al., 2007a; Oswald & Kaspar, 2012). Although, when psychometric evaluations were made the internal sub-scale showed low internal consistency and were recommended to not be used (Oswald., 2006).

Processes including external control beliefs have been shown to be particularly critical for health at old age, due to decreasing functional and cognitive capacities (Oswald & Wahl, 2019). As this is also the case for people with PD (Postuma et al., 2015), and a shift from an internal to an external locus of control has been found (Sjödahl-Hammarlund et al., 2018), external control beliefs related to the home among people with PD is an important aspect to address. In PD research, external control beliefs related to the home has only been addressed in three studies. A first study found no significant differences between people with self-reported PD and matched controls regarding external control beliefs related to the home (Nilsson et al., 2013). Another study reported that those with more functional limitations and dependence in daily activities have a tendency to rely more on external influences in relation to housing (Nilsson et al., 2016). Furthermore, a third study found that external control beliefs related to the home had a moderating effect on the relationship between accessibility problems and ADL among people with PD (Gefenaite et al., 2020a). This result differs from findings on this relationship for a younger older population, where external HCQ had a mediating effect on the relationship of housing accessibility and ADL (Gefenaite et al., 2020b). This indicates that the relationship between housing and health aspects could be unique for different sub-groups such as people with PD.

Moreover, previous research among older adults has not addressed both directions of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL dependence (Oswald et al., 2007b; Tomsone et al., 2013; Gefenaite et al., 2020b). Moreover, the existing literature is based on the presumption that more external control beliefs lead to more health problems over time (Oswald et al., 2006; Wahl & Oswald, 2016; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). As the symptoms of PD can be perceived difficult to control (Chaudhuri et al., 2011), the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL could be specific for people with PD. Therefore, an exploration of both directions of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL is warranted for understanding this P-E exchange.

The focus on housing and health for people with PD in this thesis

Housing is a complex concept that has different aspects and should therefore be explored in different ways for people with PD. This thesis was guided by core concepts and frameworks that addressed objective and perceived housing based on the P-E exchange. Objective housing was addressed with housing accessibility in this thesis. Despite PD being a progressive disease that worsens over time (Váradi, 2020), housing accessibility has not been explored longitudinally for people with PD. Such knowledge could be useful for occupational therapists in order to inform and develop rehabilitation and to contribute to health promotion, with the goal of meeting the housing needs of people with PD.

Furthermore, perceived housing was addressed in this thesis with focus on meaning of home and external control beliefs related to the home among people with PD. With both fluctuating symptoms over the course of a day (or an hour) and the progress of the disease (Váradi, 2020), PD can be perceived as unpredictable and difficult to control (Chaudhuri et al., 2011). This uncertainty and potential perceived loss of control could impact both perceived meaningfulness and control beliefs in relation to the home. Also, the words "housing" and "home" are used interchangeably, though with a clear distinction between objective or perceived housing; see Figure 1.



Figure 1. The relationship between the concepts of objective and percieved housing and instruments used in this thesis to capture aspects of these concepts. ^aOswald & Wahl (2019). ^bRowles & Bernard (2013).

Furthermore, when addressing housing using a quantitative approach, high-quality instruments are needed to accurately measure these housing aspects. Neither MOH nor the external HCQ has been psychometrically evaluated for use in people with PD. Such assessments are essential, as the psychometric properties of an instrument are sample dependent and a basic requirement when targeting new populations (Hobart & Cano, 2009). Methodological studies addressing the psychometrics of

MOH and external HCQ are therefore a prerequisite for enabling quality research on perceived housing for people with PD.

Research for the general ageing population has shown that perceived housing aspects are associated to health (Oswald et al., 2007b; Kylén et al., 2017; Gefenaite et al., 2020b), still this is an uncommon focus in PD-research. Therefore, one focus of this thesis was to explore the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL. This relationship has not been explored in all potential directions previously, and such knowledge is warranted in research to further the understanding of housing and health among people with PD.
Aim

The overall aim of this thesis is to increase knowledge on housing matters for people with PD who live in ordinary housing (in their own homes) in Sweden. The thesis addresses objective as well as perceived aspects of housing, reflecting the individual as well as the societal level. With regards to objective aspects, housing accessibility problems have been explored with a focus on change over time. As to perceived aspects, a specific aim has been to contribute to the much needed psychometric testing and optimisation of self-rating instruments for use in research targeting people with PD. As an example of studies making use of such methodology, the direction of the association between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL was explored.

Specific aims:

- To determine the most severe environmental barriers in terms of housing accessibility problems and how these evolve over three years among people with PD.
- To examine the psychometric properties of the MOH instrument to identify whether it is valid and reliable for people with PD.
- To examine the psychometric properties of the external HCQ to identify whether it is valid and reliable for people with PD.
- To explore the direction of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL, with specific attention to change, for people with PD.

Method

Overall study design

All studies in this thesis are based on data from the larger longitudinal study "Home and health in people ageing with Parkinson's disease" (HHPD), PI: MH Nilsson. A study protocol with more details of HHPD has been published (Nilsson & Iwarsson, 2013). The data used includes two time points: the baseline assessment (T1) collected during November 2012-November 2013 (N=255) and the three-year follow-up (T2) was collected during January 2016-December 2016 (N=165). Studies II and III used cross-sectional data (T1), whereas studies I and IV included both baseline and follow-up data (T1/T2).

This thesis takes a quantitative research approach and encompasses empirical studies addressing different aspects of housing as well as methodological development of instruments (Table 1).

	Study I Changes in objective housing	Study II Psychometric P evaluation MOH	Study III sychometric evaluation HCQ	Study IV Directions of relationship HCB - ADL
Study design	Cohort study	Cross-sectional	studies	Cohort study
Participants	N=138	N=245		N=154
Data collection	Questionnaries (S	Self and interview admini	cal assessments	
Statistical analysis	Paired samples t-test and McNemar´s test	Data quality, structural validity, floor and ceiling effects, corrected item total correlations, internal consistency and construct validity		Linear and logistic regression analyses

Table 1. Overview of the four studies included in the thesis.

MOH=Meaning of Home Questionnaire; HCQ=Housing-Related Control Beliefs Questionnaire; HCB=Housing-Related Control Beliefs; ADL=Activities of Daily Living.

Recruitment and participants

Home and health in people aging with Parkinson's disease (HHPD)

Baseline (T1)

In the HHPD study the participants were recruited from three different hospitals in Skåne County, Sweden. According to the power calculation, the recruitment process was carried out to reach a sample size of 250 participants (Nilsson & Iwarsson, 2013). The inclusion criterion was to have been diagnosed with PD (ICD -10 G20.9) for at least one year. The exclusion criteria included severe cognitive problems, difficulties understanding or speaking Swedish, or other reasons (such as recent stroke, hallucinations) that made them unable to give informed consent or take part in the majority of the data collection. A specialist PD nurse evaluated the inclusion and exclusion criteria at each clinic and by screening medical records if needed.

At baseline, 653 participants met the inclusion criterion. Out of those, 216 individuals were excluded based on the exclusion criteria (see Figure 2). This resulted in 437 potential participants, who were invited to participate in the study. However, 157 declined to participate, 22 were unreachable, two had their diagnosis changed and one was excluded due to extensive missing data. The final sample of the baseline recruitment consisted of 255 participants.

For those who declined (N=157) to participate at baseline compared to those who completed the assessments (N=255), there was a statistically significant difference regarding age. That is, the participants who declined to take part in the HHPD at baseline were older than those who completed the assessments (Kader, 2018a).

Three-year follow-up (T2)

The 255 participants who completed the baseline assessment had agreed to be contacted again and were considered eligible for the three-year follow-up data collection. Out of those, 229 were invited to participate in the follow-up, as three had moved, one was outside the follow-up window (i.e., 3 years \pm 3 months) and 22 were deceased. For different reasons (explained in Figure 2), 64 participants could not participate, which resulted in a final sample of 165 participants for the three-year follow-up (n=90) were significantly older and had a more severe PD at baseline (Nilsson et al., 2020). Brief sample characteristics of the baseline and the three-year follow-up sample are presented in Table 2.

Table 2. Characteristics of the baseline and the three-year follow-up sample in the HHPD study.

Variable	Baseline sample (T1), N=255	Three-year follow- up sample (T2), N=165	Missing T1/T2, n (%)
Sex (men), n (%)	153 (60)	107 (64.8)	-
Age, mean (SD)	70.0 (9.2)	71.6 (8.8)	-
PD duration, mean (SD)	9.72 (6.4)	12 (8.8)	-
Disease severity (HY during on), n (%)			-
HYI	50 (19.6)	10 (6.1)	
HY II	73 (28.6)	69 (41.8)	
HY III	67 (26.3)	37 (22.4)	
HY IV	58 (22.7)	39 (23.6)	
HY V	7 (2.7) ^a	10 (6.1)	
Motor symtoms (UPDRS III), median (q1-q3)	30 (22-39.2)	27 (21-40)	8/10
Cognitive function (MoCA), median (q1-q3)	26 (22-28)	26 (23-28)	5/13
Depressive symtoms (GDS -15), median (q1-q3)	2 (1-4)	3 (1-4)	7/25
ADL (ADL Staircase), median (q1-q3)	4 (0.2-10)	4 (0.7-9.2)	7/23
ADL (PADLS), n (%)			2/1
No diffiulties	54 (21.3)	22 (13.4)	
Mild difficulties	131 (51.8)	83 (50.6)	
Moderate difficulties	49 (19.4)	32 (19.5)	
Severe difficulties	12 (4.7)	19 (11.6)	
Extreme difficulties	7 (2.8)	8 (4.9)	
Type of housing, n (%)			2/3
Apartment	109 (43.1)	70 (43.2)	
Single-family house	139 (54.9)	89 (54.9)	
Other	5 (2)	3 (1.9)	
Housing adapation (ves), n (%) ^b	84 (32.9)	33 (21)	0/8

HHPD=The longitudinal study "Home and health in people aging with Parkinson's disease"; PD=Parkinson'disease; SD=Standard deviation; HY=Hoehn & Yahr, possible scores 1-5 (higher=worse disease severity); UPDRS=Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale, part III, possible scores 0-108 (higher=more motor symptoms); MoCA=Montreal Cognitive Assessment, possible scores 0-30 (higher=better cognitive function); GDS=Geriatric Depression Scale, possible scores 0-15 (higher=more depressive symptoms); ADL Staircase=Activities of Daily Living Staircase, possible scores 0-27 (higher=more dependent). PADLS=Parkinson's Disease Activities of Daily Living Scale, possible scores 1-5 (higher scores=more difficulites in ADL). "Due to rounding of decimals, the percentage of disease severity at T1 is not 100%. ^bInformation provided by participants in interview

Changes in objective housing over time

Study I addressed changes in accessibility problems for people with PD, and both baseline and three-year follow-up data were used. Participants who had moved between the two data collections (n=18) and those living in residential care facilities were excluded (n=9). Accordingly, the final study sample consisted of 138 participants.

Psychometric evaluations

Baseline data were used in Study II and III, covering psychometric properties of the instruments MOH and external HCQ. Participants with extensive missing data on core variables were excluded (n=8) and those living in residential care facilities (n=2). Both studies had a final study sample of 245 participants.

Directions of relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL

Study IV addressed the direction of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and PADLS, both baseline and three-year follow-up data were used. Participants with extensive missing data on main variables at both data collections (external HCQ, n=10/PADLS, n=1) were excluded. The final study sample for Study IV consisted of 154 participants.



Figure 2. Flowchart: the recruitment process in Home and health in people ageing with Parkinson's disease" (HHPD) for the baseline and the 3-year follow-up data collections, which resulted in the study samples for Studies I-IV.

Procedures

Two research administrators collected the data at baseline and two other administrators and a PhD student at follow-up. All administrators underwent project-specific training prior to the data collection.

Written information about the study was sent out by mail to the potential participants and were then contacted by phone. For those who wanted to participate, a date for a home visit was scheduled. A postal survey with self-administered questionnaires was sent to the participants about ten days before the home visit. During the home visit, interview-administrated questionnaires, observations, and clinical assessments were performed. The home visit typically lasted for two hours and was scheduled at a time when the participants usually felt at their best (in "on" state). If any participant found the data collection stressful or too long, they were offered to have the home visit split and re-scheduled for another day (within a maximum of 14 days). This was the case for eight participants at baseline and for two participants at follow-up. If the participant declined to take part in the HHPD study, no further contact was made. Among those who agreed to participate, all were asked if they could be contacted again for the follow-up data collection; all agreed.

At the three-year follow-up, all participants got information about the new data collection by mail. Thereafter, they were contacted by phone. If they agreed to participate, the data collection procedure was similar to the baseline procedure. That is, self-administered questionnaires were sent home to the participants followed by a subsequent home visit.

Instruments and clinical assessments

Parkinson's disease characteristics

Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (UPDRS), part III

UPDRS part III was used as a clinical assessment of motor symptoms of PD. It covers speech, facial expression, tremor, rigidity, finger taps, hand movements, leg agility, rising from chair, posture, gait, postural stability, body bradykinesia and hypokinesia. It consists of 14 items rated on a four-grade scale (0-4), with the total score ranging from 0 to 108 points (higher scores=more motor symptoms) (Fahn et al., 1987).

Hoehn & Yahr (HY)

Disease severity of PD was assessed with the HY scale (Hoehn & Yahr, 1967). It is a widely used, clinical established rating scale for describing disease severity that consists of five stages (see Table 3).

HY stage	Description
Stage I	Unilateral disease, regardless of severity.
Stage II	Bilateral disease, no postural instability.
Stage III	Bilateral disease with postural instability, or unilateral disease with postural instability. Functionally somewhat restricted, but physically capable of leading independent lives (i.e. do not need help from others or mobility devices to manage ADL).
Stage IV	Bilateral disease with postural instability. Can rise unassisted (but may need several attempts). Can stand and walk unassisted (even without support from another person), but impaired gait. Falls can be a problem when significant postural reflex impairment occurs. Severe disability and marked incapacity.
Stage V	Confinement to chair or bed unless aided. Cannot arise/stand or walk without assistance. May be able to walk with e.g., visual cues.

Table 3. Description of the Hoehn & Yahr (HY) stages.

HY=Hoehn & Yahr; ADL=activities of daily living.

In the HHPD data collection, HY is assessed with the approach "rate-as-you-see" (Goetz et al., 2004). Meaning that, all impairments/disabilities observed are rated based on the HY stages regardless of their direct relationship with PD. If a person uses mobility aids indoors, they were classified as at least HY stage IV.

Objective housing

Housing Enabler (HE) Instrument

Objective housing was evaluated by measuring numbers of environmental barriers and magnitude of housing accessibility problems. The scientifically established instrument HE was used (Iwarsson & Slaug, 2010; Iwarsson et al., 2012), which is based on the P-E fit (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973). The assessment of HE consists of three steps. In step 1, the person (P) component is dichotomously assessed (present/not present) through interviews and observations of functional limitations (12 item) and dependence on mobility devices (two items). If functional limitations vary over time, the rating should reflect the "worst-case scenario". (Iwarsson et al., 2012). In step 2, the environmental (E) component is dichotomously assessed (present/not present). The E component consists of 161 environmental barriers and is categorised into three housing sections: indoor environments (n=87 items), entrances (n=46 items), and the immediate exterior surrounding (n=28). The E component is based on national standards and guidelines for housing design in Sweden. In step 3, a case-specific accessibility problem score is calculated. This is done by juxtaposing the collected data of the components P (functional limitations and dependence on mobility devices) and E (environmental barriers) according to a scoring matrix. At each intersection where a functional limitation/dependence on

mobility device and a barrier are met, the matrix provides a predefined severity score (0-4, higher score=greater problem). These ratings are summed to a total accessibility problem score (HE score), where higher scores indicate more accessibility problems with a theoretical maximum score of 1,844 scores (Iwarsson & Slaug, 2010). If there are no functional limitations/dependence on mobility devices the score is 0. HE has primarily been used in cross-national research on home and health for the ageing population (Iwarsson et al., 2016) and is reported to be valid and reliable for use in ordinary housing (Iwarsson et al., 2012). Measures of objective housing (HE) are the main variable in Study I but have been addressed in all four studies. Furthermore, the Relative Accessibility Problem Score (RAPS, which is based on HE) was used in Study IV. As previous research has shown that HE score variance is mostly attributed to the P component (Slaug et al., 2013), RAPS was computed to separate the P x E interaction from the main effects of P and E (Slaug et al., 2019). The categories in RAPS are as follows: 1) "Expected number of barriers/no barriers due to no functional limitations", 2) "Fewer barriers than expected" and 3) "More barriers than expected". As cut-off for categorisation, the difference from the expected number of barriers in any direction of at least four environmental barriers more or less than expected was used (Slaug et al., 2019).

Perceived housing

Meaning of Home Questionnaire (MOH)

MOH is an instrument addressing the symbolic representation of space, place and personal meaning towards the home (Oswald & Wahl, 2005). It consists of 28 items, covering four sub-scales: physical (7 items), behavioural (6 items), cognitive/emotional (10 items), and social (5 items). The items are answered on an 11-point scale marked with endpoints, ranging from strongly disagree (0) to strongly agree (10). Three items are negatively phrased (no. 11, 16, 21) and eight items are reversed (no. 6, 9, 11, 15, 19, 21,25, 27). The reversed items are inverted when the data is processed. Higher scores indicate more perceived meaning to the home (Oswald & Wahl, 2004; 2005).

The MOH has primarily been used in the general older population and some psychometrics aspects have been evaluated for this group. That is, internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha, α) was evaluated for the four sub-scales: physical α =0.60, behavioural α =0.67, cognitive/emotional α =0.62 and social α =0.44. This result was interpreted as acceptable internal consistency for all sub-scales, except for the social sub-scale (Oswald et al., 2006). The MOH was used in Study II in this thesis; se Appendix I for the original English version of MOH.

External Housing-Related Control Beliefs Questionnaire (HCQ)

Extern HCQ consists of 16 items divided into two sub-scales, that is external control: chance (eight items addressing the belief in chance, luck or faith in relation to the home) and external control: powerful others (eight items addressing the belief that someone else is responsible in relation to the home) (Oswald et al., 2003). The items are rated each statement on a five-point scale, with the response options;1=strongly disagree, 2=disagree, 3=neutral, 4=agree, 5=strongly agree. The total sum score ranges from 16 to 80 points (higher scores=higher external HCQ) (Oswald et al., 2006). The two external sub-scales were previously used as one scale in some studies (Oswald et al., 2006; Nygren et al., 2007; Iwarsson et al., 2007). In the HHPD, a 16-item version covering both external sub-scales were used and called external HCQ.

The external HCQ has been psychometrically evaluated among older adults in two samples (sample 1, 66-69 years, N=485/ sample 2, 65-91 years, N=107) regarding internal consistency and test-retest reliability. For the external sub-scale powerful others, the internal consistency was (Cronbach's alpha) α =0.66 (sample 1) and α =0.72 (sample 2), while the test-retest was rtt=0.78. The sub-scale chance showed an internal consistency value of α =0.83 (sample 1) and α =0.76 (sample 2), the test-retest reliability was rtt=0.50 (Oswald et al., 2003). Both external sub-scales have also been combined, then the internal consistency was α =0.67 in the general older population (Oswald et al., 2006). In this thesis, external HCQ was addressed in Study II, where the psychometric properties of the instrument were evaluated in a PD sample. But it was also used in Study IV, which explored the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL. See Appendix III, for the original English version of external HCQ.

Activities of daily living

PADLS

The Parkinson's Disease Activities of Daily Living Scale (PADLS) is a single-item, self-administrated instrument developed to address ADL among people with PD (Hobson et al., 2001). The question in PADLS, revolve around how PD affects day-to-day activities over the past month and consists of five response options that can be summarized as: 1=no difficulties, 2=mild difficulties, 3=moderate difficulties, 4=high levels of difficulties, 5=extreme difficulties. The absolute score ranges from 1 to 5 (higher scores=more difficulties in ADL). The response options have also been dichotomized in other studies (Lindholm et al., 2014; Jonasson et al., 2017), meaning "no/mild difficulties" (scores 1-2=0) or "moderate to extreme difficulties" (scores 3-5=1).

PADLS has been psychometrically evaluated for people with PD with acceptable results regarding aspects of reliability and validity (Hobson et al., 2001; Jonasson et

al., 2017). Hobson and colleagues (2001) evaluated test-retest reliability (1 week in between) by using a correlation coefficient (r=0.89, p <0.001). Furthermore, acceptable targeting and general support for construct validity (moderate to strong significant correlations with self-rated disease severity, walking difficulties and ADL dependency) have been reported regarding PADLS (Jonasson et al., 2017). To summarise, PADLS has been suggested as a rough indicator of ADL for people with PD (Jonasson et al., 2017). In this thesis, PADLS was used as a main variable in Study IV, but ADL was also addressed in Studies I-III.

Statistical analyses

Descriptive statistics were computed in all four studies. Continuous variables were described by means (standard deviation, SD) and ordinal variables with medians (first and third quartiles, q1-q3). Categorical variables are expressed by number of participants (%).

The level of statical significance was set to p<0.05 in all studies. IBM SPSS Statistics 27 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA) and the HE software (Veten & Skapen HB and Slaug Enabling Development, Lund and Staffanstorp) were used for data and statistical analyses.

Changes in objective housing

Study I explored housing accessibility problems over time in people with PD. To determine which environmental barriers contributed the most to housing accessibility problems, an average magnitude score (HE score) was calculated for each of the 161 barriers at both baseline (T1) and the three-year follow-up (T2). Based on the HE scores, the top ten environmental barriers that generated most problems at both test occasions were sorted in descending order to provide a ranking list of T1 and T2. McNemar's test was used to analyse change over time in frequencies of environmental barriers. To analyse change between the measure points in HE scores of the top ten environmental barriers, delta values were calculated (T2-T1) and analysed with paired samples t-test. To analyse potential change for the summed HE scores per housing section, paired samples t-test was also used.

Psychometric evaluations

In Study II and III psychometric evaluations of the instruments MOH and external HCQ were conducted based on Classical Test Theory (CTT), in which reliability and validity are addressed through the instrument's items (Hobart & Cano, 2009). The psychometric properties evaluated were data quality, scaling assumptions, floor

and ceiling effects, reliability and validity. All parts of the analyses will be presented separately.

Data quality

To evaluate the extent to which the instrument can be administrated in the population of interest, data quality was analysed. This was done by calculating the percentage of missing item scores and total sum scores. As low data quality could indicate that the instrument is difficult to understand or irrelevant for the participants, it is important to consider the number of missing responses (Hobart & Cano, 2009).

Validity

The validity of an instrument refers to the extent to which it measures what it is purposed to measure (Hobart & Cano, 2009). In this thesis, construct and structural validity were analysed for MOH and external HCQ.

Structural validity was used to study and identify patterns of the items in the instruments by using exploratory factor analysis. As the data were ordinal and not normally distributed, principal axis factoring was used in both analyses. Visual examination of scree plots and assessment of factor loadings were used to determine the number of factors included in the models, with the following criteria: no factor less than three items, few cross-loadings and all items with factor loadings <0.33 (Tabachnik & Fidell, 2013). The factor solution was first individually assessed and then discussed in the author constellation until consensus was achieved.

Furthermore, construct validity was used to address how well the instrument measures the intended concept. This builds upon testing relevant hypotheses of how the instrument is anticipated to perform and then comparing the empirical data accordingly. This can be explored in different ways, for example by examining the relation to other known concepts, by comparing the given instrument with closely related variables (convergent validity) or with instruments that measure dissimilar concepts (discriminant validity) (Streiner et al., 2015). Known group validity can also be used to distinguish the results between predictable groups, also called group difference construct validity (Hobart & Cano, 2004; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2009). Although the different wordings of the name regarding this aspects of construct validity, "known group validity" has been used in self-reported instruments concerning various aspects related to health and health care (McConnell et al., 2001; Jakobsson et al., 2011; Rodrigues et al., 2019).

In this thesis, construct validity was based on pre-defined hypotheses with known concepts and assessed with convergent and discriminant validity for MOH, and external HCQ was evaluated with convergent and known group validity. Spearman's rank correlation and the Mann-Whitney U test were used to analyse construct validity.

Scaling assumptions

Scaling assumption regards the legitimacy to adding the items to produce a total sum score. This was analysed in two ways. First, mean scores, standard deviations/median, quartiles and distribution of item responses were reported. Frequencies should be approximately equal across items and the total mean score should be close to the midpoint. To test if the items contribute with similar proportion of information, corrected item-total correlations were also evaluated. This analysis was made with a correlation between each item and the total sum score computed from the remaining items in the scale. Correlations >0.3 have been suggested as an acceptable value; furthermore, values >0.4 indicate that the items measure the same underlying construct (Ware & Gandek, 1998; Hobart & Cano, 2009).

Floor and ceiling effects

Floor and ceiling effects were assessed with the percentage of respondents who scored the minimum (floor) or maximum (ceiling) score of the instrument. An upper limit off 15-20% was suggested for both floor and ceiling effects and exceeding this could indicate that there were not enough response options (Hobart & Cano, 2009). When addressing floor and ceiling effects on item level, Hobart and Cano suggested a 75% cut off (2004).

Reliability

Overall reliability concerns the degree to which the instrument score is precise and free from measurement errors (Hobart & Cano, 2009). In this thesis, internal consistency reliability and standard error of measurement (SEM) were used. Internal consistency measures how closely the items in an instrument measure the same underlying construct. Cronbach's alpha (α) is a measure for evaluating internal consistency (Cronbach, 1951), and the items are considered to represent a similar construct when alpha is >0.70 (Hobart & Cano, 2009). Another useful aspect of reliability is SEM, which concerns the measurement error of the instrument. It is an assessment of the smallest difference in scores indicating a change on a group level. SEM was calculated by using the formula $SD_{basline} X \sqrt{1 - reliability}$ and complemented with a 95% confidential interval (Hobart & Cano, 2009).

Directions of the relationship between control beliefs related to the home and ADL

Study IV explores two opposing hypotheses:

- 1. More difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home
- 2. Higher external control beliefs related to the home lead to more difficulties in ADL

To explore these hypotheses, one linear and one logistic regression analysis were conducted to explore both directions of the relationship between the variables external HCQ and PADLS, based on the nature of the dependent variable in each regression.

Multicollinearity was evaluated using Spearman's (rs) correlation to assess the relationships among the independent variables (external HCQ/PADLS, age, MOCA, HY and RAPS; all at baseline). Correlations >0.7 were considered as multicollinear (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013); no correlation were >0.5. Also, the basic assumptions of linear regression (linear relation between external HCQ (T2) and PADLS (T1), the variance of residuals was constant of all variables, and normal distribution of the residuals) and goodness of fit of logistic regression analyses (Hosmer & Lemeshow test) were checked and fulfilled (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2013; Hosmer et al., 2013).

Linear regression analysis was used in hypothesis 1 where external HCQ (T2) was the dependent variable. Logistics regression analysis was applied when PADLS (T2) was the dependent variable. As PADLS is an ordinal variable, it was dichotomised into "no/mild difficulties" (scores 1-2=0) or "moderate to extreme difficulties" (3-5=1) in the logistic regression analysis. Both regression analyses were first computed, controlling for the baseline value of the dependent variable (linear regression=HCQ T1/logistic regression=PADLS T1). This was followed by controlling for the baseline value of the dependent variable and confounders (HY, MOCA, RAPS and age, all at T1).

Imputation was used to reduce internal missing data on the individual level and was used for participants with only one or two missing answers on the external HCQ. A mean of the other recorded values was used to impute a score, generating a total sum score. This was the case for 11 participants regarding the variable external HCQ (measuring external control beliefs related to the home) at the three-year follow-up. No imputation was done for PADLS.

Ethical considerations

The research process should be conducted in accordance with good research practice and ethics should always be considered, especially when the research involves humans (Swedish Research Council, 2017). While research strives to generate new knowledge, the interests and rights of the study participants must at all times come first (World Medical Association, 2013). Several ethical aspects have been considered in this thesis.

Firstly, the HHPD was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (Nos. 2012/558 and 2015/611) and conducted in accordance with the

Helsinki Declaration (World Medical Association, 2013). During the data collection several ethical aspects were considered in relation to the study population.

All participants gave their informed consent to participate in the study. The potential participants got information about the study via mail and were then contacted via telephone by the project administrator about the study. Verbal consent to participate in the study was obtained during this first telephone contact, which was also when the project administers booked the home visit. During the subsequent home visit, a written informed consent was signed. At the baseline home visit, the participants were asked if they wished to be contacted again for a follow-up data collection, which also was the case at the follow-up regarding a forthcoming data collection.

A study like HHPD poses both risks and benefits, and the scientific value should always outweigh any potential risks. The benefits of a longitudinal study like HHPD are many; for example this study did not have any age limitations, which enabled all age groups to participate. This was important as it has previously been common to exclude the oldest in PD research (Fitzsimmons et al., 2012). Furthermore, HHPD addresses new perspectives in PD research. For example, housing matters was addressed in several ways, which is a knowledge gap for this group. This kind of research could bring new knowledge about several aspects for people with PD, but there are of course potential risks. Examples include the risk of falls or accidents during the data collection at the home visits. However, the clinical assessments were not more challenging than everyday activities and no fall incidents were reported. Another potential risk is that this rather vulnerable population might struggle to answer all the questions and clinical assessments in the study, and maybe choose not to participate or not be able to complete the data collection. These kinds of risks were considered in the planning phase of the HHPD and resulted in several routines in the data collection. For example, when the research administrators planned the home visit with the participants, the appointment was booked when the participant felt the best ("on" state). Still, people with PD may have communicative and cognitive difficulties which could affect their ability to participate in long meetings. As the home visits were rather time consuming (in general two hours/visit), the participants could choose to have the home visit on two occasions if necessary. This happened at eight occasions at baseline and at two at follow-up. Also, for those with more advanced PD who had difficulties completing the home visit, the project administer could opt to gather a minimal data set. In that case, selected instruments and essential assessments were conducted based on the original intended battery of instruments.

Furthermore, if new needs for assistance were discovered during the home visit, such as contact with a nurse, the need for assistive devices or interventions from home care services, the project administrator could provide contact to the right person.

Results

Changes in objective housing over time

In the study on housing accessibility problems among people with PD (Study I), a ranking list of the top ten barriers that generated most accessibility problems were listed, see Table 4. The top three barriers were: "No grab bar at shower/bath/toilette" in hygiene areas, "Stairs the only route" in entrances and "Wall-mounted cupboards placed high" in kitchens. The barriers generating the most problems at T2 were: "Refuse bin difficult to reach" in the exterior surrounding, "Wall-mounted cupboards placed high" in kitchens and "No grab bar at shower/bath/toilette" in hygiene areas. Barriers were found in all housing sections (Table 2).

Exploring the changes in magnitude of accessibility problems, six barriers contributed roughly the to the same magnitude of accessibility problems over the study period. However, one barrier in the exterior surrounding section rose to the top of the rank list at T2; "Refuse bin difficult to reach". This increased significantly in number of barriers as well as in magnitude of accessibility problems after three years. In contrast, "Grab bars at shower/bath and/or toilette" and "Stairs the only route" decreased significantly both in number of barriers and in magnitude of accessibility problems, indicating that those were less of an issue at T2 (Table 4). Together, these findings suggested that the top ten environmental barriers were mainly the same over the three years studied, but with noteworthy changes in order and magnitude.

Environmental barriers (EB)	EB			HES	core	γ		Rank	list ^c
	%) u	-	<i>p</i> value ^b	Mean	(SD)	(95% CI)	<i>p</i> value		
	T1	T2		T1	Т2		I	T1	T2
No grab bar at shower/bath/toilette (C)	124 (90)	85 (62)	<0.001	7.39 (6.28)	5.92 (6.48)	-1.47 (-2.88; -0.06)	0.041	-	3↓
Stairs the only route (B)	75 (54)	47 (34)	<0.001	6.50 (7.77)	4.61 (7.34)	-1.89 (-3.06; -0.72)	0.002	2	8
Wall-mounted cupboards and shelves placed high (C)	79 (57)	74 (54) ^a	0.659	6.26 (7.53)	6.71 (8.48)	0.45 (-1.08; 1.98)	0.562	ი	2↑
Refuse bin difficult to reach (A)	86 (62) ^a	122 (88)	<0.001	4.15 (4.84)	8.24 (5.75)	4.09 (3.15; 5.02)	<0.001	4	1 ↑
High thresholds and/or steps (B)	133 (96)	134 (97)	1.000	4.15 (3.44)	4.93 (3.57)	0.78 (0.16; 1.41)	0.015	4	€ 1
Storage areas can only be reached via stairs/threshold (C)	129 (93)ª	126 (91)	0.454	3.95 (3.40)	4.72 (3.80)	0.77 (0.15; 1.38)	0.015	9	↑ ∠
Insufficient manoeuvreing space in relation to movable furniture (C)	134 (97)	115 (83)	<0.001	3.73 (3.10)	4.38 (3.76)	0.64 (0.06; 1.23)	0.030	7	(11) J ^d
Doors cannot be fastened in open position (B)	111 (80)	108 (78)	0.775	3.65 (3.57)	4.57 (4.11)	0.92 (0.15; 1.69)	0.019	ω	↑6
High thresholds/levels differences/steps (sitting-out place/balcony) (B)	115 (83)	122 (88)	0.210	3.63 (3.54)	4.48 (3.75)	0.85 (0.17; 1.53)	0.015	თ	10
Letterbox difficult to reach (A)	75 (54) ^a	87 (63)	0.193	3.53 (4.64)	5.50 (5.87)	1.97 (0.87; 3.07)	0.001	10	4↑
Insufficient manoeuvreing spaces around white goods/storage units (C)	55 (40)	94 (68) ^a	<0.001	1.93 (3.54)	4.94 (5.03)	3.01 (2.13; 3.88)	<0.001	(27) ^d	5↑

Table 4. Top 10 environmental barriers that generated most accessibility problems (HE scores) at baseline and the 3-year follow-up, N=138.

EBEnvironmental barriers; T1=Baseline; T2=3-year follow-up; HE score=Magnitude of accessibility problems (higher scores=more accessibility problems); Δ (Detta)=HE score change between T2-T1 analysed with paired sample t-test, p values <0.05 were considered statistically significant; A=Exterior surrounding; B=Entrance; C=Indoor environment. *Missing value, n=1; ^bP value refers to the change in frequencies of EB T2-T1, analysed with McNemar's test; ^cRank list is based on HE score; ^dOnly top 10 EB at baseline/follow-up.

Furthermore, when the magnitude of accessibility problems generated by the top ten barriers were summed per housing section, the result showed that barriers in the indoor environment and entrances contributed most to the magnitude of accessibility problems at both T1 and T2. However, the only section that increased statistically significant in magnitude of accessibility problems over the three years studied was the exterior surrounding (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Development of magnitude of accessibility problems (HE score) per housing section at baseline (T1) and the 3-year follow-up (T2). The figure is based on summed HE scores from the top 10 environmental barriers that contributed most to housing accessibility problems per section, at both measure points. The p-values were analysed with paired samples *t*-test.

Psychometric evaluations of instruments capturing perceived housing

The results of the studies on the psychometric evaluations for the instruments MOH (Study II) and external HCQ (Study III) are described in this section.

Data quality

There were very few missing item responses for both MOH and external HCQ, demonstrating a high overall data quality. More specifically, in the original version of MOH five items had no missing responses and the response rate for the items

with missing answers ranged between 98.8-99.6%. Regarding external HCQ, 11 of the original 16 items had no missing responses. For the four items that had missing values, the response rate varied between 99.2-99.6%.

Structural validity: new domains of MOH and HCQ shortened

Regarding MOH, the exploratory factor analysis revealed a new three-factor solution explaining 33% of the variance. Furthermore, five items from the original MOH were suggested to be excluded, as four of them had low factor loadings (<0.33) and one item loaded low on all three factors. The new three-factor solution, with re-grouped items, was considered meaningful among the authors from a conceptual perspective with the considered population in mind. Based on the factor analysis, the items of the new factors were used as summed sub-scales, with the suggested labels: "My home is my castle" (eight items, eligible scores 0-80), "My home is my prison" (eight items, eligible scores 0-80) and "My home is my social hub" (seven items, eligible scores 0-70), see Figure 4. The news labels were agreed among the authors after iterative discussions.

Regarding the external HCQ, the exploratory factor analysis showed a one-factor solution, explaining 21.4 % of the variance. Moreover, two items were suggested to be excluded due to low factor loadings (<0.33) and low corrected-item correlations (<0.3). The new factor solution of the external HCQ consisted of 14 items (eligible scores 14-70).

The result of the psychometric evaluations presented henceforward will reflect the revised versions of MOH and external HCQ. For more details on the evaluation process of structural validity for MOH and external HCQ, see Papers II and III.



Figure 4. Items movements from the sub-scales of the original version to the new revised version of MOH. -----> =1-2 items: -----> =3-4 items.

Construct validity

Based on hypotheses, construct validity was examined for both instruments. The findings of convergent and discriminant validity of MOH show that higher MOH scores were statistically significantly correlated with higher life satisfaction, higher usability, lower ADL dependence and number of environmental barriers, as hypothesised. Furthermore, higher MOH scores for the sub-scale "My home is my social hub" correlated significantly with time lived in the dwelling, but not for the other two sub-scales. As to external HCQ, convergent validity showed that higher external HCQ scores were significantly correlated with more housing accessibility problems, dependence in ADL and lower general self-efficacy. Known group validity indicated there was a significant difference between the different HY stages related to external HCQ. That is, those in HY stages I-III had lower external HCQ scores than those in the more advanced HY stages (IV-V), see Table 5.

 Table 5. Hypotheses and results of construct validity for MOH and external HCQ, N=245.

Hypotheses	Hypotheses confirmed
мон	
Convergent validity	
Higher MOH scores are expected to correlate significantly with higher life satisfaction (1 item, Lisat -11)	Yes, for all sub-scales
Higher MOH scores are expected to significantly correlate with low to moderate strength with higher scores of Usability in My Home (UIMH)	Yes, for all sub-scales
Higher MOH scores are expected to correlate significantly for those who have lived longer in their dwelling (number of years)	No, for MOH 1 & 2 Yes, for MOH 3
Higher MOH scores are expected to correlate significantly with lower ADL dependence	Yes, for all sub-scales
Discriminant validity	
Higher MOH scores are expected to not correlate significantly with number of environmental barriers in the dwelling (HE)	Yes, for all sub-scales
External HCQ	
Known group validity	
External HCQ scores are expected to be significantly lower for HY I-III than for IV-V	Yes
Convergent validity	
Higher external HCQ scores are expected to significantly correlate with living with more accessibility problems (HE) (r ^e >0.37)	Yes
Higher external HCQ scores are expected to significantly correlate with being dependent in ADL (r^{s} >0.26)	Yes
Higher external HCQ scores are expected to significantly correlate with lower GSE	Yes

MOH=Meaning of Home Questionnaire, 23-item version with 3 sub-scales; Lisat -11=Life satisfaction Questionnaire, item 1 (higher scores=greater life satisfaction); MOH 1=The sub-scale "My home is my castle" (higher score=perceive more meaning); MOH 2=The sub-scale "My home is my prison" (higher score=perceive more meaning); MOH 3=The sub-scale "My home is my social hub" (higher score=perceive more meaning); UIMH=Usability in My Home, consisting of 2 sub-scales: activity aspect (higher scores=more usable) & physical aspect (higher scores=more usable); ADL= Activities of Daily Living, measured with ADL Staircase higher scores=more dependent); Number of environmental barriers measured with HE=Housing Enabler Instrument (higher scores=more barriers); External HCQ=External Housing-Related Control Beliefs Questionnaire, 14-item version in one scale (higher scores=higher beliefs in external influences related to the home); HY=Hoehn & Yahr, (higher scores=worse disease severity); HE=Housing Enabler Instrument (higher scores=more accessibility problems); GSE=General Self Efficacy Scale (higher scores=greater self-efficacy).

Scaling assumptions

The median total sum score was at the higher end for MOH sub-scales, while the value was more in the middle of the scale for external HCQ. The distribution of the quartiles (q1-q3) was not evenly distributed across the items in any of the instruments. Furthermore, all items of the revised version of MOH had corrected item-total correlations values >0.3, and only two items had values <0.4. Addressing corrected item-total correlation in the revised version of external HCQ, all values were >0.3 with a range between 0.31-0.53, see Table 6.

Floor and ceiling effects

For MOH, no floor or ceiling effects were found on the item level, or for two of the sub-scales. There was a tendency, though, towards a ceiling effect for the sub-scale "My home is my castle", as 15.6% had selected the response option "strongly agree". No floor or ceiling effects were found regarding the total sum score for external HCQ.

Table C Developmentation and the office of the OO item MOUL and the 44 item external LICO N=045

	МОН			Ext HCQ	
		"My home is my castle"	"My home is my prison"	"My home is my social hub"	
Μ	issing responses, n (%)	12 (4.9)	11 (4.5)	9 (3.7)	4 (1.6)
Т	otal sum scores				
	Median (q1-q3),	68 (59-76)	68 (59-75)	58 (50-65)	32 (26-39)
	Min-max	29-80	32-80	23-70	14-62
	Floor/ceiling effect, %	0/15.6	0/12.3	0/8.3	0.8/0
C	orrected item-total prrelation	0.43-0.62	0.38-0.53	0.40-0.55	0.31-0.53
С	hronbach's alpha	0.80	0.74	0.76	0.78
S	EM (CI 95%)	5 (-5:15)	6 (-6:17)	5 (-5:15)	4.47 (-4.3:13.2)

MOH=Meaning of Home Questionnaire, in all sub-scales higher scores=perceiving more meaning; MOH sub-scale "My home is my castle" possible sum scores: 0-80; MOH sub-scale "My home is my prison" possible sum scores: 0-80; MOH sub-scale "My home is my social hub" possible sum scores: 0-70; external HCQ=external Housing-related Control beliefs Questionnaire, possible sum score 14-70 (higher scores=higher beliefs in external influences related to the home).

Reliability

For both instruments Cronbach's alpha values were above the recommended value of >0.70. Exploring the SEM score, the MOH sub-scales had scores ranging between 5-6 points, while the SEM was 4.47 points for the external HCQ, see Table 6.

Directions of relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL

The study exploring the directions of the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and PADLS (Study IV) showed that hypothesis 1 was confirmed by the adjusted linear regression when controlling for external HCB, age, HY, MoCA and RAPS; all baseline variables. That is, an increase with 1 point on PADLS implies an average 3.07 point (p<0.001) increase on external control beliefs related to the home. This indicate that more difficulties in PADLS lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home in people with PD (Figure 5 & Table 7).



Figure 5. Linear regression analysis supporting hypothesis 1; PADLS (Parksinson's disease Activities of Daily Livings Scale, measures difficulties in ADL) at baseline significantly (p<0.001) predicts external HCB at follow-up, when adjusting for the confounders: external HCB (external Housing-related Control Beliefs (measures beliefs in external influences related to the home) age, HY (Hoehn & Yahr, measures disease severity), MOCA (Montreal Cognitive Assessment, measures global cognitive function) and RAPS (Relative Accessibility Problem Score, measures housing accessibility problems) all at T1. T1=baseline; T2=3-year follow-up; Arrows indicate significant impact on external HCB, while an absence of arrows indicates non-significant impact.

The reversed direction of the relationship, however, was not confirmed. That is, the adjusted logistic regression analysis exploring hypothesis 2 showed no statistically independent effect between external control beliefs related to the home and PADLS (p=0.136) when controlling for age, HY, MoCA and RAPS all at baseline (Table 7).

 Table 7. Linear and logistic regression analyses for exploring the direction of association between external HCB and PADL among people with Parkinson's disease. (N=152).

Linear regression analyses (Dependent variable: External HCB, T2) Hypothesis 1 (more difficulties in ADL leads to higher external HCB)						
Independent variable: PADLS (T1)	Regression coefficient (β)	95% CI	p value			
Analysis adjusted for HCB (T1)	2.36	0.63-4.09	0.008			
Analysis adjusted for HCB (T1) + confounding factors ^a	3.07	1.28-4.85	<0.001			
Logistic regression analyses (Dependent variable: PADLS ^b , T2) Hypothesis 2 (higher external HCB leads to more difficulties in ADL)						
Independent variable: External HCB (T1)	OR	95% CI	p value			
Analysis adjusted for PADLS (T1)	1.05	1.01-1.10	0.021			
Analysis adjusted fo PADLS (T1) + confouding factors ^a	1.04	0.99-1.09	0.136			

HCB=External Housing-Related Control Belief Questionnaire, possible score 14-70 (higher scores=higher beliefs in external influences related to the home); T2=3-year follow-up; PADLS=Parkinson's Disease Activities of Daily Living Scale, possible scores 1-5 (higher scores=more difficulties in ADL); T1=Baseline; Regression coefficient (β)=unstandardized beta coefficient; OR=Odds ratio; CI=Confidence interval.

³Adjusted with the following variables at T1: age, relative housing accessibility problems scores (RAPS), disease severity (Hoehn & Yahr) and global cognitive functioning (Montreal Cognitive Assessment).

^bDichotomization of PADLS: no difficulties – mild difficulties, scores 1-2=0; moderate difficulties - extreme difficulties scores 3-5=1.

Discussion

As a knowledge gap has been found on housing for people with PD (Iwarsson et al., 2022), this thesis aspires to advance the understanding of housing aspects for people with PD. The overall aim has been to increase the knowledge of housing matters, in terms of objective as well as perceived housing for people living with PD in Sweden. The more specific aims were to determine the most severe environmental barriers in terms of housing accessibility problems and how those evolvement over time (Study I), examine the psychometric properties of instruments that measures perceived housing (Study II & III), and to explore the directions of the relationship between one perceived housing aspect and ADL for people with PD (Study IV). These aims were addressed using a quantitative methodology through studies covering different aspects of housing as well as methodological development of instruments.

The main findings from the four studies are that environmental barriers that pose housing accessibility problems among people with PD remain roughly the same over a three-year period, but with notable changes in order and magnitude (Study I). Furthermore, the revised versions of the instruments MOH and external HCQ, which capture aspects of perceived housing showed sufficiently psychometric properties for use in PD samples (Study II & III). Using one of these instruments in a study exploring the direction of the relationship between perceived housing and health, showed that difficulties in ADL lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home for people with PD (Study IV).

Together, the findings from this thesis add to the overall understanding of different housing aspects and their relation to health for people with PD, as well as how perceived housing can be assessed in this population. Such knowledge can be of use in both individual rehabilitation, at the societal level and in research to address and meet various needs related to housing for people with PD.

Assessing perceived meaning and control beliefs

As no psychometric evaluations of the instruments MOH and external HCQ have been done among people with PD, the findings from Studies II and III contribute to the methodological development of these instruments. The results of the exploratory

factor analyses suggested changes for both instruments regarding number of items as well as sub-scale structure, which differed from the original instruments (Oswald et al., 2003; Oswald & Wahl, 2005). The results indicated that MOH should consist of 23 items categorised into three new sub-scales and that the external HCQ should be treated as one scale with 14 items, although other solutions were examined. Previous factor analyses have been done regarding external HCQ and MOH, although none are comparable with the analyses in this thesis. That is, one analysis was made in the development process of HCQ (including both the internal and both external sub-scales) (Oswald et al., 2003), and another attempt was made to reconsider MOH and external HCQ together for use in the general population of older adults (Oswald & Kaspar, 2012). Furthermore, both original versions of MOH and external HCO were developed based on well-known concepts and theories in psychology (Oswald et al., 2003; Oswald & Wahl, 2005; Oswald & Wahl, 2019), while the psychometric evaluation principles guided the process in Study II and III. These various courses of action and the new population addressed could explain some of the differences found in the structure of the instruments, and the discrepancies reaffirm that psychometric properties are sample dependent (Hobart & Cano, 2009).

Besides structural validity, the psychometric evaluation of the original instruments covered internal consistency reliability (Oswald et al., 2003; Oswald et al., 2006). Regarding Cronbach's alpha, the original version of MOH had Cronbach's alpha values between 0.44-0.67 (Oswald et al., 2006), but as the sub-scales were revised in Study II comparisons were not possible. Regarding the revised version of external HCQ, the findings suggested a slightly stronger internal consistency than the original external HCQ (α =0.78 versus α =0.67) (Oswald et al., 2003). Cronbach's alpha is dependent on the number of items in the instrument evaluated, that is, the alpha score increases with more items. Still, a high alpha value (>0.90) could indicate item redundancy (Streiner, 2003). As the revised version of external HCQ showed acceptable Cronbach's alpha, even though two items were excluded from the original instrument, it could indicate that this revised version is internally consistent. Moreover, construct validity was largely supported with significant correlations of expected strength to other concepts, according to predefined hypotheses. At large, these poor to fair correlations were in line with previous literature (Oswald et al., 2006; Oswald et al., 2007a) and showed that MOH as well as external HCQ are related to similar concepts yet differs from concepts such as ADL, usability of the home and housing accessibility.

The findings of the psychometric evaluations are promising, but future studies need to confirm these results for use in PD samples and should address additional aspects such as test-retest reliability. Nevertheless, it is unclear whether the revised versions proposed in the thesis should be considered PD-specific versions, and more studies are needed in different populations to be able to determine whether there are variations between different populations that warrant recommending different

versions of the instruments. Such studies are important as psychometrically sound instruments are a prerequisite for high-quality research on perceived housing among people with PD.

Exploring housing accessibility, control beliefs and activities of daily living

The findings from the studies on housing accessibility (Study I) and the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL (Study IV) contribute knowledge for further the understanding of different housing aspects among people with PD. Study I is the first study to address accessibility problems over time in a PD sample. Compared to previous studies, Study I revealed both similar as well as different results. That is, most environmental barriers generating accessibility problems were in line with a previous cross-sectional study of people with PD (Slaug et al., 2017a), although the magnitude of accessibility problems generated by the barriers varied. In contrary, the ten most prevalent barriers identified at baseline in Study I differed partly in comparison to yet another cross-sectional study (Slaug et al., 2013), as only four barriers were the same. Study I showed that indoor barriers generated most problems, while Slaug and colleagues (2013) suggested that barriers in the exterior surrounding contributed to more accessibility problems. Slaug and colleagues (2013) had an older study sample (mean age 82 years), which could possibly explain some of these differences compared to the findings in Study I. Still, the results that barriers in the exterior surrounding contributed to a higher extent to accessibility problems is interesting, as Study I suggest that the exterior surrounding was the only housing section where summed magnitudes of accessibility problems increased significantly over three years. Accessibility problems in exterior surroundings are in many cases caused by balance problems or dependence on walking aids (Iwarsson & Slaug, 2010) and as people with PD often such problems that increase with the disease progresses (Mirelman et al., 2019), it is likely that accessibility problems in the exterior surrounding become more pronounced with time. Together this points to that studies with longer time perspectives are warranted to explore accessibility problems for people with PD.

Turning to perceived housing, Study IV explored the relationship between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL. The findings show that difficulties in ADL seem to lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home, while the opposing direction could not be confirmed. This result is not comparable to any of the previous studies addressing this relationship in PD samples, since one study only reported the association of the relationship not addressing the direction (Nilsson et al., 2016) and the second study explored the relationship between accessibility and ADL and found that external control beliefs in relation to the home had a moderating

effect of that relationship (Gefenaite et al., 2020a). The results from Gefenaite and colleagues (2020a) differs from the findings of in this thesis, but the results are not incompatible as Study IV investigated another aspect of the relationship. It should be noted that the previous studies are also based on data from the HHPD (Nilsson et al., 2016; Gefenaite et al., 2020a), although the possible direction that ADL difficulties can influence external control beliefs in relation to the home has not been addressed before.

Furthermore, empirical studies addressing different sub-groups of older adults have also found an association between external control beliefs related to the home and ADL but have neither targeted the direction of the relationship (Oswald et al., 2007a; Tomsone et al., 2013; Genefnaite et al., 2020b). Still, studies and frameworks in environmental gerontology have assumed that processes including external control beliefs related to the home may lead to negative health outcomes, such as ADL difficulties (Wahl & Oswald, 2016; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). Accordingly, the finding of Study IV differs from such frameworks. The "Integrative conceptual framework of the P-E" suggests that such a P-E exchange is likely to change due to physical and cognitive decline (Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). As people with PD often have a combination of physical (e.g. bradykinesia and postural instability) and cognitive symptoms (e.g. cognitive decline and fatigue) (Váradi, 2020), it is not surprising that this relationship is different for people with PD compared to the general ageing population. This exemplifies that housing and health relationships could be diagnose-specific and the characteristic PD symptoms provide a possible explanation for the diverging results. While the findings from Study IV add to the knowledge of housing and health interactions for people with PD, more research is needed to confirm these results and to explore them in other populations to see if such results are PD specific.

To summarise, both objective and perceived housing seem to matter for people with PD. The nature of PD seems to impact both housing accessibility (Study I) as well as control beliefs in relation to the home (Studies IV) in specific ways. The knowledge gained from Study I can be used in PD rehabilitation as well as on the societal level to meet the housing needs of people with PD. The findings from Study IV are useful in research for building a knowledge base on housing and health for people with PD.

Occupational therapy practices and housing

In occupational therapy, the traditional approach when addressing housing focuses on objective aspects, such as housing accessibility (Fänge & Iwarsson, 2005; Norin et al., 2021; Wellecke et al., 2022). Although, this is a common way to target housing, mapping of environmental barriers generating accessibility problems for

specific diagnosis groups are lacking (Iwarsson et al., 2022a). The findings from Study I can therefore be useful in occupational therapy practices when addressing the housing environment for people with PD. For example, the barriers "No grab bar at shower/bath/toilette", "Stairs the only route" and "Wall-mounted cupboards and shelves placed high" generated the most accessibility problems at baseline. According to the Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning (2019), grab bar and ramp installations are the most frequently made housing adaptations in Sweden that address some of the barriers found in Study I. The fact that the found barriers ("No grab bar at shower/bath/toilette" and "Stairs the only route") were less frequent and generated a lower magnitude of accessibility problems at follow-up indicate that they had been effectively addressed during the three-year studied through, for example, housing adaptations. The results also suggest that several environmental barriers generated a higher magnitude of accessibility problems over time such as the barriers "Doors that cannot be fastened in open position" in entrances and "High thresholds/levels differences/steps" indoors. This indicate that these are barriers generate more accessibility problems over time and are important to be aware of when addressing housing for people with PD. Also, the fact that the number of these barriers were largely the same at both test occasions implies that those had not been addressed during the study period. This supports that there is a need for knowledge on environmental barriers and their development over time for occupational therapist working in PD rehabilitation.

Furthermore, the barrier "Insufficient manoeuvring spaces around movable furniture" decreased in frequency of barriers, suggesting that some modification has been done between the two assessments. Still, this barrier was ranked lower at follow-up, although it generated significantly more accessibility problems. Dependence on mobility devices such as rollators or wheelchairs, is often generating more accessibility problems for barriers that addresses insufficient manoeuvrings spaces in HE. It is therefore essential to consider both components of the P-E fit (Lawton & Nahemow, 1973) when evaluating the environment. This is especially important in populations that are frequent users of mobility devices, such as people with PD. Previous research has advocated the need to develop research-based strategies on housing adaptations for people with PD (Bhiadaysairi et al., 2015), and the results of Study I can therefore be valuable when developing such strategies, for example in occupational therapy programmes for people with PD.

As the time period investigated was only three years, it is likely that there will be even larger accessibility problems over a longer period of time due to disease progression. This also supports the idea that regular follow-ups of the housing environment and adaptations made should be a part of individual housing interventions to maintain occupational performance for people with PD. As previous research shows that recurring housing adaptations cost time and money (Malmgren Fänge, 2004), occupational therapists working in PD rehabilitation should take a proactive approach when addressing housing adaptation to enable ageing in place for people with PD.

Turning to aspects of perceived housing, neither MOH nor external HCQ is used in clinical settings. The result of Study IV shows that both ADL difficulties and external control beliefs related to housing increase with time, which is in line with previous literature (Sperens et al., 2020; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). Such basic knowledge is beneficial for forthcoming studies on people with PD and has the potential to inform the development of assessments and interventions in PD rehabilitation. The findings that ADL difficulties lead to higher external control beliefs in relation to the home is novel and further research is warranted to confirm these results. As increased difficulties in ADL indicate a disease progression that may lead to rehabilitation needs, the result of Study IV implies that external control beliefs related to the home represents a housing aspect to be aware of for occupational therapists working in PD rehabilitation. Still, a further exploration is needed on how such a housing aspect could be used in a clinical setting.

Knowledge on different housing aspects, such as objective and subjective housing, is also important in light of the new Swedish health care reform "good local care" (God och nära vård). The reform suggests that more care and rehabilitation should take place in people's homes, even in the advanced phases of the disease (SOU, 2020:19). The home as a place for care and rehabilitation is a global movement, yet little is known about what local care means for people with complex rehabilitation needs and how the built environment can contribute to good care (Elf et al., 2020). For example, there will be higher demands for accessible housing when care and rehabilitation is situated in the homes of persons needing care. This may also affect feelings of control and meaning towards the home among those receiving such care. This health care reform is therefore another reason why research on housing matters is important for people with PD.

The relevance of housing for health promotion

Several global organisations have acknowledged that housing has major implications for health (United Nations, 2006; WHO, 2018; WHO, 2020), aiming to creating inclusive and accessible environments. Still, such recommendations have not been considered in relation to people with PD. Although research shows that there is an association between the housing environment and health variables among people with PD (Nilsson et al., 2016; Gefenaite et al., 2020a) WHO's report emphasising a public health approach (WHO, 2022a) does not mention environmental aspects in general or related to housing. The findings of this thesis imply that knowledge on foremost objective housing could be useful from a societal perspective to promote health.

The findings from Study I suggest that not all housing accessibility problems can be solved by individual housing adaptations, but rather that some environmental barriers need to be addressed at the societal level. For example, changes in magnitude of accessibility problems per housing section was examined in Study I. The findings revealed that the indoor environment and entrances generated the most magnitude at both baseline and the follow-up, but that the exterior surrounding was the only housing sections where the accessibility problems increased significantly over the three years studied. Although used by many, community areas can generate accessibility problems for individuals (Carlsson et al., 2021), such as the exterior surrounding of a house. Still, housing adaptations are mostly addressed in the indoor environment (Swedish National Board of Housing, Building and Planning, 2019). It is therefore important that the society plan for and take into account the needs of specific populations in such areas.

An example of this was the barrier "Refuse bin difficult to reach", which generated the most magnitude of accessibility problems at follow-up in Study I. A potential explanation for this finding is the change in Sweden's the waste management system since the 1990s (Johansson, 2004). This change involved which waste to sort and how, as well as the design and location of rubbish stations. The increase in both numbers of barriers and magnitude of accessibility problems over three years indicates that some of these waste management changes do not benefit people with PD and therefore need such barriers to be addressed at a societal level.

Housing accessibility for people with functional impairments is a priority area globally (WHO, 2018), which underscores the importance of the findings from Study I. The results at baseline showed, for example, that barriers in bathrooms, entrances and kitchens generated the most accessibility problems for people with PD. These areas have also been shown to cause accessibility problems for people with diagnoses such as multiple sclerosis (Bishop et al., 2013) and dementia (Marquardt et al., 2011) as well as for the general older population (Granbom et al., 2016; Slaug et al., 2017b). As similar environmental barriers generate accessibility problems among people with PD and other diagnosis groups as well as the general ageing population, increases the incentive to address housing accessibility problems at the societal level (Jonsson et al., 2021). The findings on which barriers contribute to the most accessibility problems for people with PD can add to the knowledge base on housing accessibility to enhance public health policies and standards for housing design. Although not common, occupational therapist has the potential to take an expert role in such initiatives, with their specific competencies on environmental barriers related to P-E fit (Iwarsson et al., 2022a).

Housing standards are important in creating enabling environments (World Health Organization & The World Bank, 2011), but the knowledge of housing standards is low. Although, research has shown that building according to such standards lower societal costs and improve ADL dependence for older adults (Slaug et al., 2017b), houses are often not applied according to standards. Furthermore, there is a need

and demand for affordable houses for individuals (Anacker, 2019). This means that houses with barriers are still being built. For example, newly constructed multidwelling houses contain a considerable number of barriers (Granbom et al., 2016), that can potentially lead to health issues for the persons living there. Taking into account that people with more complex diagnoses and more pronounced symptoms also reside in such houses, the accessibility problems will probably be even larger for such people. Therefore, it should be considered whether there are populations in the community with specific needs going beyond today's housing standard. Study I show that people with PD face housing accessibility problems and that these increase with time. Consequently, it is important that the housing construction sector and policymakers comply to the housing standards and educate themselves about what type of designs represent barriers for the persons living there and can in turn cause health problems.

Turning to perceived housing, Study IV addresses external housing-related control beliefs and the relation to health. Such aspects of housing have not been recognised globally. For example, in the WHO's housing and health guidelines (WHO, 2018), objective aspects of housing are acknowledged to be important for health, but perceived housing is not considered. Therefore, more research is needed on perceived housing and the relation to health.

Theoretical considerations

Core concepts

Turning to the concepts used in this thesis, perceived housing deserves some attention. This is an umbrella term consisting of several underlying concepts that are not easy to capture quantitatively with instruments. For example, external housing-related control beliefs measured with external HCQ originally consisted of two sub-scales called external control beliefs: chance and powerful others, based on psychology literature and a factor analysis (Levenson, 1973; Oswald et al., 2003). Still, external HCO were suggested to be used as on single scale for people with PD in Study III. A possible reason for the different results compared to the general ageing population is that not having control in relation to housing could be connected to the disease as such. Potentially the experience of increasing symptoms leading to ADL difficulties could mean that the division of these concepts is not that relevant in relation to PD. Also, the psychometric evaluation of MOH rendered in three new sub-scales (Study II). In the exploratory factor analysis, the items were clustered in ways so that similarities were formed around different relations to the home (as a castle, as a prison or as a social hub) rather than the nature or character of meaning expressed (physical, behavioural, emotional, etc.). For instance, the subscale "My home is my castle" includes questions of both behavioural and cognitive/emotional meaning, but all questions concern a certain relation to the home that was found to be suitably captured by the label "My home is my castle". This revised version of MOH sparks an interest in gaining a deeper understanding of what meaning of home means to people with PD. Therefore, qualitative studies addressing meaning of home among people with PD are needed and could maybe explain some of the findings in Study II.

The home often represents a high amount of meaning and personal values in old age (Rubinstein, 1989). The literature covering meaning towards the home has anticipated that a higher amount of MOH is positive (Oswald & Wahl, 2004; Oswald et al., 2006; Oswald et al., 2007), although considering the sub-scales suggested in Study II has led to other thoughts. Attachment to the home could also make the person feel confined there if the environment does not fit the person's competencies. Although people with PD express a wish to age in place (Habermann & Shin, 2017), Study I suggest that people with PD have accessibility problems that change over time. Therefore, if feelings towards the home are strong, this might prevent proactive decisions to relocate (Rowles & Watkins, 2003), even if relocation would be necessary to sustain a good P-E fit. This could eventually lead to the experience that the person is a prisoner in their own home (Study II) and possibly change their feelings about their home. This makes meaning of home important to address among people with PD.

There are other psychological concepts that could deepen the understanding of P-E exchange for people with PD. For example, the concept embodiment (Rubinstein, 1989) could be important to consider. That is, when facets of the environment (e.g. a cane, glasses, or a handrail on stairs) becomes important for the person to cope with their daily activities, blurry borders can arise between the environment and the body. Including difficulties knowing where the body ends and the environment begins (Rubinstein, 1989). With the characteristic symptoms of PD, a familiar home environment might enable activities that could be difficult or even impossible to perform in other environments. Furthermore, Rubinstein also introduced the concept of environmental centralisation in relation to the housing environment, suggesting that when functional limitations increase, the person centralises around a smaller area in the home to manage daily activities. One example is, gathering important things (e.g. TV-remote, telephone, newspaper, a glass of water) around a favourite place, such as a sofa or comfortable chair, when activities become more difficult to perform. The suggested MOH sub-scale "My home is my prison" could be an expression of this concept, exemplified by the item "Being confined to rooms inside the house". Concepts such as embodiment and environmental centralisation could be important to bear in mind when discussing the P-E exchange for people with PD and could be useful to address in future research on housing and health for people with PD.

Frameworks and models

Turning to the frameworks and models used, the gerontological literature and frameworks as well as occupational therapy models have influenced this thesis. The findings support the relevance of using and combining different perspective when exploring housing matters for people with PD.

The PEOP model (Baum et al., 2015) and "the integrative conceptual framework of person-environment exchange" (Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019) have common themes in their theoretical base where interaction between the person and the environments is important aspects, although calling this interaction differently (P-E transaction vs P-E exchange). Considering how these model and framework were addressed in the four studies, facets from both were addressed. That is, Study I considered the P-E exchange in relation to objective housing (housing accessibility), whereas Study II and III focused on this relation while addressing perceived housing (Study II and III). The outcome autonomy of "the integrative conceptual framework of person-environment exchange" was also addressed in Study IV by addressing ADL. This is also applicable of the three aspects in the PEOP model, that is the P-E-O addressed in the thesis (Baum et al., 2015). Both the environmental gerontology and the occupational therapy perspective the have supported and guided the process during the work with this thesis, and have given me a broad theoretical basis.

Furthermore, the findings from Studies I and IV shows that both objective and perceived housing change over time, which is in line with the theoretical perspectives used in the thesis (Baum et al., 2015; Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). The role of time is important to address in this dynamic P-E exchange especially when targeting people with a progressive disease, such as PD. Chaudhury and Oswald (2019) reason that when physical or cognitive functions decline over time the P-E exchange changes. An example of this is that both magnitude of accessibility problems (Study I) and external control beliefs related to the home (Study IV) increased over the three years studied. Therefore, studies addressing longer time periods than three years are warranted to explore the dynamic P-E exchange further among people with PD.

Comparing the frameworks and models that have guided this thesis, with syntheses of housing research. For example, Roy and colleagues (2018) conducted a systematic review on housing covering six dimensions. The studies conducted in this thesis cover the following four dimensions from their work: time and space-time (ADL), built and natural environment (accessibility), psychological and psychosocial (meaning and control) and socioeconomic and health (PD). Furthermore, the review includes several other factors that are seldom addressed in PD research (Iwarsson et al., 2022b), such as a well-developed economic dimension related to housing as well as a social dimension. Therefore, the work of Roy and colleagues (2018) is an important source of knowledge for defining new research questions on housing and health for people with PD.

Methodological reflections

During this work, it became clear that housing is a rare topic in PD research. This led to the decision to incorporate more housing aspects than perceived housing only, as originally planned. Therefore, both objective and perceived housing. To measure an aspect that addresses perceptions of the home strictly quantitatively is perhaps not the most obvious methodological choice. In light of the results on perceived housing and ADL) I would argue that this quantitative approach is one approach needed in PD research to cover some aspects of the knowledge gap on housing for people with PD and nurture further research.

Psychometric evaluation is an ongoing process (Hobart & Cano, 2009) and based on the results of Studies II and III revised versions of the external HCQ and MOH were suggested when used in PD samples. The new findings were guided by the explorative factor analyses, and there are different traditions when analysing such results (Costello & Osbourne, 2005; Hobart & Cano, 2009). Some may argue that statistics and cut-off values of the analyses were not strictly followed in this process, as the author constellation evaluated the statistics while also taking a conceptual approach by considering the development process. This kind of process was possible because one of the original authors of the instruments was a co-author of Studies II and III. Aa an example, some items were removed due to low factor loadings and others were kept due to their significance in the instrument's development process (called signature items) in the evaluation of MOH. Such considerations are important to keep in mind when interpreting the results.

Even though the instruments measuring perceived housing were evaluated rather extensively in this thesis in terms of validity and reliability for people with PD, other methods of modern test theory could be used to learn more about the instruments. For example, an analysis using the Rasch measurement model could potentially lead to additional instrument development (Hobart & Cano, 2009). Reflecting also on the content of the instruments, revisions might be beneficial due to changes in society over time. As the instruments were developed 20 years ago, developments in society since then could prompt the study of new aspects that affect perceived housing. Over the last few decades, technology has developed in leaps and bounds, potentially affecting feelings about the home. For example, older adults perceive technology as supporting healthy behaviour, like increasing autonomy and safety and enabling greater participation in society (Carretero, 2015; Swedish Agency for Health and Care Services Analysis, 2021). Thus, the use of technology could affect how people think and feels about their home. Technology is also addressed in the gerontology framework used in this thesis as a component affecting the P-E

exchange (Chaudhury & Oswald, 2019). In sum, the instruments addressing perceived housing could benefit from further instrument development.

Strengths and limitations

Considering the drop-out rate for the HHPD study, it was 35% for the invited participants at baseline as well as between baseline and follow-up. Although, this can be seen as a considerable drop-out rate, it was accounted for in the study protocol based on power calculations and previous experiences (Nilsson & Iwarsson, 2013).

When considering the participants included in the four studies, there was a representative gender distribution for the PD population (Van Den Eeden et al., 2003) and a broad age range of almost 50 years. This is especially important as older people with PD are often excluded from PD research (Fitzsimmons et al., 2012). Another, strength is that participants from all stages of HY and ADL were included in the studies, thus representing the full spectrum of disease severity and difficulties in ADL to be able to generalise the results to the PD population. Although fewer cases were included in HY V (1.3-3.5%) and few had extreme difficulties in ADL (0.6-2.9%), it is an advantage to have participants representing all stages. Also, when it comes to housing, persons living in residential case units were excluded in three of the four studies, and in Study IV nearly all participants lived in ordinary housing (99.4%). Consequently, the results of this thesis can be considered representative for people with PD living in ordinary housing, who are not in the most advanced stages of PD.

Study I used the HE instrument that was developed and psychometrically evaluated for older adults (Iwarsson & Slaug, 2010; Helle et al., 2010). Although psychometrically sound instruments are important when addressing new populations (Hobart & Cano, 2009), the HE was not evaluated for use among people with PD. Still, it is essential to learn from previous evaluations; for example, the HE has been psychometrically evaluated for people with spinal cord injuries (Norin et al., 2019). Although there are many differences between spinal cord injuries and PD, there are some similarities, such as the frequent use of mobility devices by these groups (Kader et al., 2018b; Norin et al., 2019). In the psychometric evaluation of HE among people with spinal cord injuries, specific attention was paid to people that used mobility devices, suggesting that rollators and powered wheelchairs compensate for some environmental barriers. The recommendation was therefore to make a distinction between manual and powered wheelchairs as well as between rollators and other walking assistive devices in the analyses of accessibility problems (Norin et al., 2019). As rollators are commonly used among people with

PD (Kader et al., 2018b), this information also applies to this group and the results of Study I should be interpreted based on this knowledge.

Moreover, the internal scale of control beliefs in relation to housing was never included in the HHPD data collection, based on previous recommendations due to low internal consistency (Oswald et al 2006; Iwarsson et al., 2007; Nygren et al., 2007). Thus, only the external aspects of housing-related control beliefs were addressed in this thesis. Not being able to address the entire concept of control beliefs in relation to housing is therefore a limitation in this thesis. Furthermore, similar to what was found in Study III (to treat external HCQ as one scale), previous literature has combined the two external sub-scales (Oswald et al., 2006). One should consider that these previous recommendations were only made to achieve an acceptable internal consistency in group comparisons and were not based on statistical analyses as in this thesis.

In Study IV two different kinds of regression analyses were made due to the nature of the two dependent variables used, that is linear and logistic regression. This hampers the possibility to make comparisons of the results when exploring the hypotheses. Also, ordinal regression analysis was considered as a possible analysis method in the planning phase, as PADLS is of ordinal nature. As the sample size was at the lower end and the assumptions of ordinal regression were not fulfilled (Armstrong & Sloan, 1989), logistic regression was chosen instead.
Conclusions

Housing matters have seldom been addressed in PD research and this thesis contributes new findings on different housing aspects for people with PD living in ordinary housing. The studies address both objective and perceived housing and provide new knowledge on the relationship between perceived housing and health. Furthermore, the thesis lays a methodological ground for capturing perceived housing for people with PD quantitatively.

- Regarding objective housing in terms of accessibility problems, hygiene areas, entrances and kitchens are spaces with a high frequency of environmental barriers as well as generating high amounts of housing accessibility for people with PD. Also, barriers in the exterior surrounding generated accessibility problems over time. Consequently, those areas of the home environment need specific attention in PD rehabilitation addressing the home environment.
- Going beyond individual rehabilitation, some barriers that generate accessibility problems for people with PD need to be addressed at a societal level. Barriers in the exterior surrounding outside the house was one such example that needs to be acted on systematically for people with PD.
- Measuring perceived housing, the revised versions of MOH and external HCQ are psychometrically sound for use among people with PD.
- Exploring perceived housing and the relationship to health, showed that difficulties in ADL were suggested to lead to higher external control beliefs related to the home among people with PD. This direction of the relationship could be specific for this population, although more studies need to confirm these findings.

Implications for practice, research, and policies

- The knowledge gained about changes in environmental barriers and housing accessibility over time can support more foresighted and sustainable individual housing adaptations as well as ageing in place for people with PD. Such knowledge could for example be used in occupational therapy programmes for PD rehabilitation to support occupational therapists addressing accessibility problems for people with PD.
- Occupational therapist should take a proactive approach when addressing housing adaptations for people with PD, due to the nature of the disease. Furthermore, regular follow-ups to evaluate the environment and the housing adaptations made are important for enhancing the P-E fit for people with PD.
- The findings on housing accessibility problems and developments over time have the potential to be applied on the societal level, as input to support housing provision and public health policies to meet the housing needs of people with PD.
- The revised versions of MOH and external HCQ enables more high qualitative studies on perceived aspects of housing among people with PD. This is important for building a knowledge base on housing matters for the PD population.
- The new finding that ADL difficulties lead to higher perceived control beliefs in relation to the home is useful in research to build a knowledge base on housing and health for people with PD. Furthermore, this result indicate that external control beliefs related to the home is a housing aspects to be aware of for occupational therapist working in PD rehabilitation, although more research is needed to understand how such knowledge could be used in rehabilitation.

Future perspectives

This thesis contributes with new knowledge on different housing aspects for people with PD, although more research is needed to fill the knowledge gap housing for this population.

The result of this thesis suggests that people with PD have housing accessibility problems that change over three years. With a progressive disease like PD, more research is needed that consider longer time perspectives to explore how housing accessibility change over time. It would also be interesting to see what housing accessibility looks like in other countries for people with PD, with a different housing stock than Sweden.

The instruments MOH and external HCQ measuring perceived housing were evaluated for people with PD in this thesis. Still, the original instruments were developed about 20 years ago, therefore could methodological studies addressing instrument development in general shed new light on perceived housing. Also, as the psychometric evaluation showed that revised versions with new sub-scales should be used for people with PD. This sparks a curiosity to get a deeper understanding of what these concepts mean to people with PD. Qualitative studies addressing these concepts could generate such knowledge and might explain some of the findings from this thesis.

The exploration of the relationship between external control beliefs related to housing and ADL, lead to new findings in this thesis. It is also intriguing to know if this direction of the relationship could be found in other populations with different diagnosis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all participants in the longitudinal cohort study HHPD, who provided essential input about what it is like to live with Parkinson's disease and who made this thesis possible. Thank you for welcoming me into your homes in the third data collection of HHPD.

This thesis has been written in the supportive environments of "Centre for Active and Supportive Ageing" (CASE), "Multidisciplinary Research on Parkinson's disease" (MultiPark) at Lund University and "National Graduate School of Ageing and Health" (SWEAH). To all involved in these environments, thank you for the open discussion climate and for showing me the broad field of ageing research.

Many people have supported me throughout this journey, and I would like to extend a special thanks to the following people:

Susanne Iwarsson, my main supervisor during my PhD education. Thank you for believing in me and for letting me be a part of your research group. For always pushing me in the right direction, sharing you broad knowledge as well as giving your support when needed. It has been a true pleasure working with you.

Thanks also to my co-supervisors Maria (Mia) Nilsson and Björn Slaug. Thank you, Mia, for being one who lured me into this fantastic opportunity and who has supported me in the process with happy shouts and strong coffee. Your eye for details and clinical grounding have been invaluable. And thank you Björn, my methodological guide who always has a moment to spare for discussions. Your calmness and ability for reflection have really been an asset in my work. Thank you for all the nice discussions about everything from data management to Goethe (at Strum und Drang).

Thank you, all senior researchers and PhD students, in the research group "Active and Healthy Ageing" for always being welcoming and supportive throughout my PhD journey. I truly appreciate our discussions and all the good advice along the way.

Magnus Lind-Regnifo, thank you fellow PhD partner. We went into this together and we will soon be on the other side. I would not have made it without our discussions, pondering and your support. Livet!

Maya Kylen, thank you for being an inspiration both in academic matters and on the running track. Thank you for all your good advice!

Marianne Granbom, thank you for always having your door open and always asking the right questions.

Charlotte Löfqvist, thank you for always telling me to believe in myself and for your support since my undergraduate studies in occupational therapy.

Eva Månsson Lexell, thank you for all discussions and for always being my occupational therapist mentor.

Stina Elfverson and Dan Lindblom my colleagues who have always given me the best administrative support - invaluable.

Jannike Johnsson, my partner in crime in data collection. Thank you for making data collection so much fun. LU box crises, discussion on how to measure a staircase and contact with the tax authorities weren't that bad and always with a smile. I hope that you will join us soon again.

Frank Oswald, thank you for showing me what good collaboration in the academia world could look like and for your hospitality during my short and intensive study visit in Frankfurt.

Susann Ullén, thank you for all your statistical support during my PhD, and for your patience when explaining the wonders of statistics.

Thank you Helle Wijk and Ann Björkdahl for fruitful discussions during my midway seminar.

To my colleagues at the Memory Clinic (SUS), Jenny and Carina, thank you for your support and good spirits along the way. Thank you to all my ex-colleagues in the Neuro team at the department of Rehabilitation medicine (SUS), for showing me what amazing teamwork can be. A special thanks to Christina Brogårdh and Jan Lexell, who really sparked my interest in research.

Helena Erixon, my friend, thank you for listening and for always putting things in perspective.

Malena Havenvid, my oldest friend and the greatest inspiration in the academia world, thank you for showing me that anything is possible.

And finally, to my family – Klas, Tage and Stina, thank you for being in my life and always reminding me what's important! To Mum and Dad for always believing in me. I love you all!

References

American Association of Retired People (AARP). (2011). Aging in place: A state survey of liveability policies and practices. http://www.ncsl.org/documents/transportation/Aging-in-Place-brief.pdf

Armstrong, B., & Sloan, M. (1989). Ordinal Regression models for epidemiologic data. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 129,1,191–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a115109

Anacker, K. (2019). Introduction: housing affordability and affordable housing. *International Journal of Housing Policy*.19,1, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2018.1560544

Baum, C., Christiansen, C., Bass, J. (2015). Person-Environment-Occupational Performance (PEOP) Model. I C. Christiansen, C. Baum, & J. Bass (Red.), Occupational Therapy: Performance, Participation, Well-being. (4th ed.). NJ Slack.

Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. Annual Review of Psychology. 52, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1

Bhidayasiri, R., Jitkritsadakul, O., Boonrod, N., Sringean, J., Calne, S.M., Hattori, N., & Hayashi, A. (2015). What is the evidence to support home environmental adaptation in Parkinson's disease? A call for multidisciplinary interventions. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. 21(10),1127-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.08.025

Bishop, M., Sheppart-Jones, K., Roessler, R., Rumrill P.D., Waletic, B., & Umeasiegbu, V. (2013). Specialized housing needs of Americans with multiple sclerosis:
Descriptive results of a national analysis. *J Vocational Rehab.* 39, 111-125. https://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-130649

Bratsos, S., Karponis, D., & Saleh, S.N. (2018). Efficacy and Safety of Deep Brain Stimulation in the Treatment of Parkinson's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Cureus*. 22,10(10),e3474. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.3474

Carlsson, G., Slaug, B., & Månsson Lexell, E. (2021). Assessing environmental barriers by means of the Swedish craig hospital inventory of environmental factors among people post-stroke. *Scand J Occup Ther.* 28(5),366-374. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2020.1775885

Carretero, S. (2015) Technology-enabled services for older people living at home independently – Lessons for public long-term care authorities in the EU Member States. *Luxembourg: JRC Science and Policy Reports:* pp. 3-47.

Chapman, L., & Nelson, D. (2014). Person-centered, community-based occupational therapy for a man with Parkinson's disease: a case study. *Act Adapt Aging*. 38(2), 94-112. https://doi.org/10.1080/01924788.2014.901045

- Chatterji, S., Byles, J., Cutler, D., Seeman, T., & Verdes, E. (2015). Health, functioning and disability in older adults- present status and future implications. *Lancet*, 385, 563-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8
- Chaudhuri, K.R., Odin, P., Antonini, A., & Martinez-Martin, P. (2011). Parkinson's disease: The non-motor issues. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders*, 17 (10), 717-723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2011.02.018
- Chaudhury, H., & Oswald, F. (2019). Advancing Understanding of Person- Environment Interaction in Later Life: One Step Further. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 51, ID:100821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2019.100821
- Christiansen, C., Baum, C.M., & Bass-Haugen, J. (Red.) (2015). Occupational therapy: performance, participation, and well-being. (4th ed.). NJ: Slack.
- Chronbach, L.J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. *Psychometrika*. 16:3.
- Clarke, C.E., Patel, S., Ives, N., Rick, C.E., Woolley, R., Wheatley, K., Walker, M.F., Zhu, S., Kandiyali, R., Yao, G., & Sackley, C.M. (2016). Clinical effectiveness and costeffectiveness of physiotherapy and occupational therapy versus no therapy in mild to moderate Parkinson's disease: a large pragmatic randomised controlled trial (PD REHAB). *Health Technol Assess*. 20(63).1-96. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta20630
- Costello, A.B., & Osborne, J. (2005). Best practices in exploratory factor analysis: four recommendations for getting the most from your analysis. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation*, 10,7. https://doi.org/10.7275/jyj1-4868
- Dorsey, E.R., Sherer, T., Okun, M.S., & Bloem, B.R. (2018). The Emerging Evidence of the Parkinson Pandemic. *J Parkinsons Dis*, 8, 3-8. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-181474
- Elf, M., Kylén, M., & Marcheschi, E. (2020). The home as a place for rehabilitation What is needed? I S. Gromark, & B. Andersson. (Eds.). Architecture for Residential Care and Ageing Communities: Spaces for Dwelling and Healthcare (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429342370
- European commission. (2015). Housing conditions. Eurostat and Statistics explained. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Living_conditions_i n_Europe_-_housing#Housing_conditions
- Fahn, S., Elton, R., & Members of the UPDRS Development Committee. (1987). The Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale. I S. Fahn, C.D. Marsden, D.B. Calne & M. Goldstein. (Red.), *Recent Developments in Parkinson's Disease*, 2, (p. 153-163). McMellam Health Care Information.
- Fereshtehnejad, S.M., & Lökk, J. (2014). Active aging for individuals with Parkinson's disease: definitions, literature review, and models. *Parkinsons Dis.* ID: 739718. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/739718
- Fisher, A.G., & Martella, A. (2019). *Powerful practice: a model for authentic occupational therapy*. Centre for Innovative OT Solutions.
- Fitzsimmons, P.R., Blayney, S., Mina-Corkill, S., & Scott, G.O. (2012). Older participants are frequently excluded from Parkinson's disease research. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. 18(5), 585-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.03.003

- Fänge, A. & Iwarsson, S. (2005). Changes in accessibility and usability in housing: an exploration of the housing adaptation process. *Occup. Ther. Int.*, 12: 44-59. https://doi.org/10.1002/oti.14
- Gage, H., & Storey, L. (2004). Rehabilitation for Parkinson's disease: a systematic review of available evidence. *Clinical Rehabilitation*. 18(5),463-482. https://doi.org/10.1191/0269215504cr764oa
- Gefenaite, G., Björk, J., Iwarsson, S., Slaug, B., Schmidt, S.M., & Nilsson, M.H. (2020a). Longitudinal association between housing accessibility and activities of daily living: the role of self-efficacy and control in people ageing with Parkinson's disease. *BMC Geriatr.* 20(1),181. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01574-z
- Gefenaite, G., Björk, J., Schmidt, S.M. Slaug, B., & Iwarsson, I. (2020b). Associations among housing accessibility, housing-related control beliefs and independence in activities of daily living: a cross-sectional study among younger old in Sweden. J Hous and the Built Environ. 35, 867–877. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10901-019-09717-4
- Giladi, N., Manor, Y., Hilel, A. & Gurevich, T. (2014). Interdisciplinary Teamwork for the Treatment of People with Parkinson's Disease and Their Families. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* 14 (11), 493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-014-0493-1
- Goetz, C.G., Poewe, W., Rascol, O., Sampaio, C., Stebbins, G.T., Counsell, C., Giladi, N., Holloway, R.G., Moore, C.G., Wenning, G.K., Yahr, M.D., & Seidl, L. (2004). Movement Disorder Society Task Force on Rating Scales for Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorder Society Task Force report on the Hoehn and Yahr staging scale: status and recommendations. *Mov Disord*. 19(9). https://doi.org/10208.10.1002/mds.20213
- Goneya, J.G. (2021). Housing for Older Americans: The challenge of accessibility, affordability and quality. I K. Ferraro, D. Carr (Red.). *Handbook of Ageing and the social Sciences*. (9th ed.). Academic Press.
- Granbom, M., Iwarsson, S., Kylberg, M., Pettersson, C., & Slaug B. (2016). A public health perspective to environmental barriers and accessibility problems for senior citizens living in ordinary housing. *BMC Public Health*. 11,16(1):772. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3369-2
- Grander, M. (2017). New public housing: a selective model disguised as universal? Implications of the market adaptation of Swedish public housing. *International Journal of Housing Policy*. 17,3, 335-352. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491247.2016.1265266
- Grimmer, K., Kay, D., Foot, J., & Pastakia, K. (2015). Consumer views about aging-inplace. *Clin Interv Aging*. 4,10,1803-11. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S90672
- Habermann, B., & Shin, J.Y. (2017). Preferences and concerns for care needs in advanced Parkinson's disease: a qualitative study of couples. *J Clin Nurs*. 26(11-12), 1650-1656. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13565
- Hairz, G.M., & Forsgren, L. (2011). Activities of daily living and quality of life in persons with newly diagnosed Parkinson's disease according to subtypes of disease, and in comparison to healthy controls. *Acta Neurol Scand.* 123, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2010.01344.x

- Hammarlund, C.S., Andersson, K., Andersson, M., Nilsson, M.H., & Hagell, P. (2014). The significance of walking from the perspective of people with Parkinson's disease. *J Parkinsons Dis.* 4(4),657-63. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-140399
- Helle, T., Nygren, C., Slaug, B., Brandt, A., Pikkarainen, A., Hansen, A.G., Pétursdórttir, E., & Iwarsson, S. (2010). The Nordic Housing Enabler: inter-rater reliability in cross-Nordic occupational therapy practice. *Scand J Occup Ther*. 17(4),258-66. https://doi.org/10.3109/11038120903265014
- Herbert, C., & Molinsky, J.H. (2019). What Can Be Done To Better Support Older Adults To Age Successfully In Their Homes And Communities? *Health Aff (Millwood)*, 38(5),860-864. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00203
- Hickey, P., & Stacy, M. (2016). Deep Brain Stimulation: A Paradigm Shifting Approach to Treat Parkinson's Disease. *Front Neurosci.* 28,10,173. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2016.00173
- Hjalte, F., Norlin, J.M., Kellerborg, K., & Odin, P. (2021). Parkinson's disease in Sweden— resource use and costs by severity. *Acta Neurol Scand.* 144,592–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13502
- Hobson, J.P., Edwards, N.I., & Meara, R.J. (2001). The Parkinson's Disease Activities of Daily Living Scale: a new simple and brief subjective measure of disability in Parkinson's disease. *Clin Rehabil*, 15(3),241-6. https://doi.org/10.1191/026921501666767060
- Hoehn, M.M., & Yahr M.D. (1967). Parkinsonism: onset, progression and mortality. *Neurology*. 17(5): 427–442.
- Hobart, J., Riazi, A., Lamping, D.L., Fitzpatrick, R., & Thompson, A.J. (2004). Improving the evaluation of therapeutic Interventions in multiple sclerosis: development of a patient-based measure of outcome. *Health Technol Assess*. 8 (9), 1-48. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta8090
- Hobart, J., & Cano, S. (2009). Improving the evaluation of therapeutic interventions in multiple sclerosis: the role of new psychometric methods. *Health Technol Assess*. 13(12), 1-177. https://doi.org/10.3310/hta13120
- Hosmer, D., Lemeshow, S., & Sturivant, R.X. *Allied Logistic Regression*. 3rd Ed. Chichester; Wily: 2013. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118548387.
- Huber, M., Knottnerus, J.A., Green, L., van der Horst, H., Jadad, A.R., Kromhout, D., Leonard, B., Lorig, K., Loureiro, M.I., van der Meer, J.W., Schnabel, P., Smith, R., van Weel, C., & Smid, H. (2011). How should we define health? *BMJ.* 26,343,d4163. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4163
- Iwarsson, S. (2022a). Ett arbetsterapeutiskt folkhälsoperspektiv. I P. Wagman (Ed.). *Hälsa* och aktivitet i vardagen ur ett arbetsterapeutiskt perspektiv (3 ed., pp. 11-26). Förbundet Sveriges Arbetsterapeuter.
- Iwarsson, S., Andersson, N., Slaug, B., & Nilsson, M.H. (2022b). People with Parkinson's disease and housing issues: A scoping review. *Health Sci Rep.*, 9,5(2),e511. https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.511.
- Iwarsson, S., Haak, M., & Slaug, B. (2012). Current developments of the housing enabler methodology. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75(11),517–521. https://doi.org/10.4276/030802212X13522194759978

- Iwarsson, S., Horstmann, V., & Slaug, B. (2007). Housing matters in very old age—yet differently due to ADL dependence level differences. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 14,1, 3-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038120601094732
- Iwarsson, S., Horstmann, V., & Sonn, U. (2009). Assessment of dependence in daily activities combined with a self-rating of difficulty. *J Rehabil Med*, 41(3),150-6. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0298
- Iwarsson, S., Löfqvist, C., Oswald, F., Slaug, B., Schmidt, S., Wahl, H.W., Tomsone, S., Himmelsbach, I., & Haak, M. (2016). Synthesizing ENABLE-AGE Research Findings to Suggest Evidence-Based Home and Health Interventions. *Journal of Housing for the Elderly.* 30(3), 330-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2016.1198742
- Iwarsson, S., & Slaug, B. (2010). Housing Enabler A Method for Rating/Screening and Analysing Accessibility Problems in Housing. (2nd ed). Lund & Staffanstorp, Sweden: Veten och Skapen HB & Slaug Enabling Development.
- Iwarsson, S., & Ståhl, A. (2003). Accessibility, usability and universal design Positioning and definition of concepts describing person-environment relationships. *Disabil Rehabil.* 25,57-66. https://doi.org/10.1080/dre.25.2.57.66
- Iwarsson, S., Wahl, H.W., Nygren, C., Oswald, F., Sixsmith, A., Sixsmith, J., Széman, Z., & Tomsone S. (2007). Importance of the home environment for healthy aging: conceptual and methodological background of the European ENABLE-AGE Project. *Gerontologist.* 47(1),78-84. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/47.1.78
- Jakobsson, U., Westergren, A., Lindskov, S., & Hagell, P. (2012). Construct validity of the SF-12 in three different samples. *J Eval Clin Prac.* 18,3,560-6. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01623.x
- Jansa, J., Aragon, A., & Lundgren-Nilsson, Å. (2011). How people living with Parkinson's disease in four European countries view occupational therapy. *The European Neurological Journal*. 3(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/196303
- Jennum, P., Zoetmulder, M., Korbo, L., & Kjellberg, J. (2011). The health-related, social, and economic consequences of parkinsonism: a controlled national study. *J Neurol*, 258, 1497–1506. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-011-5969-1
- Johansson, B. (Red.) (2004). Sopor hit och dit på vinst och förlust [Garbage here and there on profit and loss]. Research Council Formas.
- Jonasson, S.B., Hagell, P., Hariz, G.M., Iwarsson, S., & Nilsson MH. (2017). Psychometric Evaluation of the Parkinson's Disease Activities of Daily Living Scale. *Parkinsons Dis*, ID: 4151738. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4151738
- Jonasson, S.B., Nilsson, M.H., Lexell, J., & Carlsson, G. (2018). Experiences of fear of falling in persons with Parkinson's disease – a qualitative study. *BMC Geriatr*, 18, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-018-0735-1
- Jonsson, O., Frögren, J., Haak, M., Slaug, B., & Iwarsson S. (2021). Understanding the Wicked Problem of Providing Accessible Housing for the Ageing Population in Sweden. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18,3,1169. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18031169
- Kader, M. (2018a). Activity avoidance, perceived walking difficulties, and use of mobility devices in people with Parkinson's disease. [Doctoral thesis, Lund University].

- Kader, M., Jonasson, S.B., Iwarsson, S., Odin, P., & Nilsson, M.H. (2018b). Mobility device use in people with Parkinson's disease: A 3-year follow-up study. *Acta Neurol Scand*, 138(1),70-77. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12942
- Kalia, L., & Lang, A.E. (2015). Parkinson's disease, *The Lancet, 386*, 896-912. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61393-3
- Katz, S., Ford, A.B., Moskowitz, R.W., Jackson, B.A., & Jaffe, M.W. (1963). Studies of illness in the aged. The index of ADL: a standardized measure of biological and psychosocial function. *JAMA*, 185,914–919. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.1963.03060120024016
- Kylén, M., Schmidt, S.M., Iwarsson, S., Haak, M., & Ekström, H. (2017). Perceived home is associated with psychological well-being in a cohort aged 67–70 years. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 51, 239-247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2017.04.006
- Law, M., Cooper, B., Strong, S., Stewart, S., Rigby, P., & Letts, L. (1996). The Person-Environment-Occupation model: a transactive approach to occupational performance. *Can J Occup Ther*, 63(1),9–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/000841749606300103
- Law, M., Baum, C., Dunn, W. (red.) (2005). *Measurement in occupational performance*. (2 ed.). Thorofare, NJ: Slack Inc.
- Lawton, MP. (2001). The physical environment of the person with Alzheimer's disease. *Aging Ment Health*, 5,56-64. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860120044828
- Lawton, M.P., & Nahemow, L. (1973). Ecology and the aging process. I C. Eisdorfer & M. P. Lawton (Eds.). *The psychology of adult development and aging* (pp. 619–674). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10044-020
- Levenson, H. (1973). Multidimensional locus of control in psychiatric patients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 41(3), 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0035357
- Lidstone, S.C., Bayley, M., & Lang, A.E. (2020). The evidence for multidisciplinary care in Parkinson's disease. *Expert Rev Neurother*. 20(6),539-549. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737175.2020.1771184
- Lindholm, B., Hagell, P., Hansson, O., & Nilsson, M.H. (2014). Factors associated with fear of falling in people with Parkinson's disease. *BMC Neurol.* 24,14-19. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-14-19
- Lexell, J., & Rivano-Fischer, M. (2017). *Rehabiliteringsmetodik*. (1st ed.). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Low, S.M., & Altman, I. (1992). Place Attachment. I I. Altman, S.M. Low (Eds.) Place Attachment. Human Behavior and Environment. 1-12. Boston: Springer MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-8753-4_1
- Malmgren Fänge, A. (2004). Strategies for evaluation of housing adaptations -Accessibility, usability and ADL dependence. [Doctoral thesis, Lund University].
- Marquardt, G., Johnston, D., Black, B.S., Morrison, A., Rosenblatt, A., Lyketsos, C.G., & Samus, Q.M. (2011). A Descriptive Study of Home Modifications for People with Dementia and Barriers to Implementation. *J Hous Elderly*, 1,25(3),258-273. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2011.595612

- McConnell, S., Kolopack, P., & Davis, A.M. (2001). The Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC): a review of its utility and measurements properties. *Arthrithis Rheum*. 45,453-61. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131(200110)
- Meek, C., Morgan, E., Walker, M.F., Furmstone, A., Aragon, A., Birleson, A., Kelly, V., Clarke, C.E., & Sackely, C.M. (2010). Occupational therapy to optimize independence in PD: the designing and recording of a RCT intervention. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*. 73(4),178-185. https://doi.org/10.4276/030802210X12706313444027
- Mirelman, A., Bonato, P., Camicioli, R., Ellis, T.D., Giladi, N., Hamilton, J.L., Hass, C.J., Hausdorff, J.M., Pelosin, E., & Almeida, Q.J. (2019). Gait impairments in Parkinson's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18, 7: 697-708. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30044-4
- Mlinac, M.E., & Feng, M.C. (2016). Assessment of Activities of Daily Living, Self-Care, and Independence. Arch Clin Neuropsychol, 31(6),506-16. https://doi.org/10.1093/arclin/acw049
- National board of welfare in Sweden [Socialstyrelsen]. (2016). Nationella riktlinjer för MS och Parkinsons sjukdom, sammanfattning med förbättringsområden. Socialstyrelsens publikationsservice. https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepointdokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2016-12-1.pdf
- Norin, L., Iwarsson, S., Haak, M., & Slaug, B. (2019). The Housing Enabler instrument: Assessing threats to reliability and validity. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*. 82(1):48-59. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022618782329
- Norin, L., Slaug, B., Haak, M., & Iwarsson, S. (2021). Housing adaptations and housing accessibility problems among older adults with long-standing spinal cord injury. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 84(12),765-774. https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022620979516
- Nilsson, M.H., Haak, M., Iwarsson, S. (2013). Housing and Health: Very Old People with Self-Reported Parkinson's Disease versus Controls. *Parkinsons Dis*. ID: 710839. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/710839
- Nilsson, M.H., Jonasson, S.B., & Zijlstra, G.A.R. (2020). Predictive Factors of Fall-Related Activity Avoidance in People With Parkinson Disease-A Longitudinal Study With a 3-Year Follow-up. *J Neurol Phys Ther*. Jul;44(3):188-194. https://doi.org/10.1097/NPT.00000000000316
- Nilsson, M.H., & Iwarsson, S. (2013). Home and health in people ageing with Parkinson's disease: study protocol for a prospective longitudinal cohort survey study. *BMC Neurology*. 13,142-49. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2377-13-142
- Nilsson, M.H., Ullen, S., Ekström, H., & Iwarsson, I. (2016). The association between indicators of health and housing in people with Parkinson's disease. *BMC Geriatr*. *16*,146–153. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0319-x

- Nygren, C., Oswald, F., Iwarsson, S., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, J., Schilling, O., Sixsmith, A., Széman, Z., Tomsone, S., & Wahl, H.W. (2007). Relationships between objective and perceived housing in very old age. *Gerontologist*, 47(1),85-95. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/47.1.85
- Oswald, F., & Kaspar, R. (2012). On the Quantitative Assessment of Perceived Housing in Later Life, *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*. 26,1-3, 72-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2012.673391
- Oswald, F., Schilling, O., Wahl, H.W., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, J., & Iwarsson, S. (2006). Homeward bound: Introducing a four-domain model of perceived housing in very old age. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*. 26(3),187-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.07.002
- Oswald, F., & Wahl, H.W. (2004). Housing and health in later life. *Rev Environ Health.* 19 (3–4), 223–52. PMID: 15742672.
- Oswald, F., & Wahl, H.W. (2005). Dimensions of the Meaning of Home in Later Life. I G.D. Rowles & H. Chaudhury (Eds.). *Home and Identity in Later Life: International* Perspectives (pp 21–45). New York: Springer.
- Oswald, F., & Wahl, H. (2019). Physical Contexts and Behavioural Aging. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Psychology. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190236557.013.399
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H.W., Martin, M., & Mollenkopf, H. (2003). Towards Measuring Proactivity in Person-Environment Transactions in Late Adulthood: the Housing-Related Control Beliefs Questionnaire. *J Hous Elderly*. 17, 135-152. https://doi.org/10.1300/J081v17n01_10
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H.W., Schilling, O., & Iwarsson, S. (2007a). Housing-related control beliefs and independence in activities of daily living in very old age. *Scand J Occup Ther*. 14(1),33-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038120601151615
- Oswald, F., Wahl, H.W., Schilling, O., Nygren, C., Fänge, A., Sixsmith, A., Sixsmith, J., Széman, Z., Tomsone, S., & Iwarsson, S. (2007b). Relationships Between Housing and Healthy Aging in Very Old Age, *The Gerontologist.* 47, 1,96–107. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/47.1.96
- Pani-Harreman, K., Bours, G., Zander, I., Kempen, G., & Van Duren, J. (2021). Definitions, key themes and aspects of 'ageing in place': A scoping review. *Ageing* and Society. 41(9), 2026-2059. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X20000094
- Parmar, M. (2018). Towards stem cell based therapies for Parkinson's disease. Development. 8,145(1). ID:156117. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.156117
- Pettersson, C., Slaug, B., Granbom, M., Kylberg, M., & Iwarsson S. (2018). Housing accessibility for senior citizens in Sweden: Estimation of the effects of targeted elimination of environmental barriers. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*. 25,6, 407-418. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2017.1280078
- Pierce, D. (2001). Untangling occupation and activity. *Am J Occup Ther. Mar-Apr.* 55(2),138-46. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.55.2.138

- Postuma, R.B., Berg, D., Stern, M., Poewe, W., Olanow, C.W., Oertel, W., Obeso, J., Marek, K., Litvan, I., Lang, A.E., Halliday, G., Goetz, C.G., Gasser, T., Dubois, B., Chan, P., Bloem, B.R., Adler, C.H., & Deuschl, G. (2015). MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*. 30(12),1591-601. https://doi.org/10.1002/mds.26424
- Ramos, J.B., Duarte, G.S., Bouça-Machado, R., Fabbri, M., Mestre, T.A., Costa, J., Ramos, T.B., & Ferreira, J.J. (2020). The Role of Architecture and Design in the Management of Parkinson's Disease: A Systematic Review. *J Parkinsons Dis.10*(4),1301-1314. https://doi.org/10.3233/JPD-202035
- Rodrigues, I.B., Adachi, J.D., Beattie, K.A., Lau, A., & MacDemid, J.C. (2019). Determinating known-group validity and test-retest reliability in PEQ (personalized exercise questionnaire). *BMC Musculoskelet Disord.* 20,373. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2761-3
- Rolfe, S., Garnham, L., Godwin, J., Anderson, I., Seaman, P., & Donaldson, C. (2020). Housing as a social determinant of health and wellbeing: developing an empiricallyinformed realist theoretical framework. *BMC Public Health*. 20, ID: 1138. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09224-0
- Roy, N., Dubé, R., Després, C., Freitas, A., & Légaré, F. (2018). Choosing between staying at home or moving: A systematic review of factors influencing housing decisions among frail older adults. *PLOS ONE*. 13(1),ID:e0189266. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0189266
- Rowles, G.D., & Bernard, M. (Eds.). (2013). *Environmental gerontology: Making meaningful places in old age*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Rowles, G. D., & Watkins, J. F. (2003). History, habit, heart and hearth: On making spaces into places. In K. W. Schaie, H.-W. Wahl, H. Mollenkopf, & F. Oswald (Eds.), *Aging independently: Living arrangements and mobility* (pp. 77–98). New York: Springer.
- Rubinstein, R. (1989). The home environments of older people: a description of the psychosocial processes linking person to place. *J Gerontol.* 44(2),45-53. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/44.2.s45
- Rubinstein, R.I., Parmelee, P.A. (1992). Attachment to Place and the Representation of the Life Course by the Elderly. I I. Altman, S.M Low (Eds.) *Place Attachment. Human Behavior and Environment*, 12. Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4684-8753-4_7
- Sjödahl Hammarlund, C., Westergren, A., Åström, I., Edberg, A.K., & Hagell, P. (2018) The Impact of Living with Parkinson's Disease: Balancing within a Web of Needs and Demands. *Parkinsons Dis, 29,* ID:4598651. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/4598651
- Slaug, B., Iwarsson, S., Ayala, J.A., & Nilsson, M.H. (2017a). Housing accessibility problems for people with Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand*. 136(5),501–510. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12763
- Slaug, B., Iwarsson, S., & Björk, J. (2019). A new approach for investigation of personenvironment interaction effects in research involving health outcomes. *Eur J Ageing*, 16,237-47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-018-0480-5

- Slaug, B., Nilsson, M.H., & Iwarsson, S. (2013). Characteristics of the personal and environmental components of person-environment fit in very old age: a comparison between people with self-reported Parkinson's disease and matched controls. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 25(6),667-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-013-0165-z
- Slaug, B., Chiatti, C., Oswald, F., Kaspar, R., & Schmidt, S.M. (2017b). Improved Housing Accessibility for Older People in Sweden and Germany: Short Term Costs and Long-Term Gains. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* 26,4(9),964. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14090964

Song M, & Kong EH. (2015). Older adults' definitions of health: A metasynthesis. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 52(6),1097-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.02.001

- SOU (2015). Bostäder att bo kvar i Bygg för gemenskap i tillgänglighetssmarta boendemiljöer. Betänkande av Utredningen om bostäder för äldre. (SOU 2015:85). Statens offentliga utredningar: Stockholm. https://www.regeringen.se/rattsligadokument/statens-offentliga-utredningar/2015/10/sou-201585/
- SOU (2020). God och nära vård en reform för ett hållbart hälso- och sjukvårdssystem. Ett delbetänkande av utredningen Samordnad utveckling av god och när vård. (2020:19). Statens offentliga utredningar: Stockholm. https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-dokument/statens-offentligautredningar/2020/04/sou-202019/
- Spalt, E.W., Curl, C.L., Allen, R.W., Cohen, M., Adar, S.D., Stukovsky, K.H., Avol, E., Castro-Diehl, C., Nunn, C., Mancera-Cuevas, K., & Kaufman, J.D. (2016). Timelocation patterns of a diverse population of older adults: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis and Air Pollution (MESA Air). *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol.* 26(4),349-55. https://doi.org/10.1038/jes.2015.29
- Sperens, M., Georgiev, D., Eriksson Domellöf, M., Forsgren, L., Hamberg, K., & Hariz, G. (2020). Activities of daily living in Parkinson's disease: Time/gender perspective. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*. 141(2),168-176. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.13189
- Stack, E., King, R., Janko, B., Burnett, M., Hammersley, N., Agarwal, V., Hannuna, S., Burrows, A., & Ashburn, A. (2016). Could in-home sensors surpass human observation of people with Parkinson's at high risk of falling? An ethnographic study. *Biomed Res Int.* ID: 3703745. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3703745
- Statistics Sweden (2022). *After age 60. A description of older people in Sweden*. Demographic reports:2.
- Stedman, R.C. (2002). Toward a Social Psychology of Place: Predicting Behavior from Place-Based Cognitions, Attitude, and Identity. *Environment and Behavior*. 34(5),561-581. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916502034005001
- Streiner, D.L. (2003). Starting at the beginning: an introduction to coefficient alpha and internal consistency. *Jpers Assess.* 80,99-103. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327752JPA8001_18
- Streiner, D.L., Norman, G.R. & Cairney, J. (2015). Health measurement scales: a practical guide to their development and use. (5. ed.) Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Sturkenboom, I.H., Graff, M.J., Hendriks, J.C., Veenhuizen, Y., Munneke, M., Bloem, B.R., Nijhuis-van der Sanden, M.W. & OTiP study group. (2014). Efficacy of occupational therapy for patients with Parkinson's disease: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* 13(6),557-566. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70055-9
- Swedish Agency for Health and Care Services Analysis (Vård och omsorgsanalys) (2021) Digital teknik med äldre i fokus en delredovisning av utvärderingen av överenskommelsen om digitaliseringen i äldreomsorgen Myndigheten för vård och omsorgsanalys, PM 2021:2. [Cited 2022 Oct]. Available at: https://www.vardanalys.se/rapporter/digital-teknik-med-aldre-i-fokus/
- Swedish Association of Occupational Therapist. (2018). *Code of Ethics for Occupational Therapists in Sweden*. General Assembly in 1992, revised in 2004, 2012 and 2018.
- Swedish National Board of Housing, buildning and Planning (2020). Bostadsanpassningsbidragen 2019 [Housing Adaptation Grants 2019]. Boverket. [Cited 2022 Oct]. Available at: https://www.boverket.se/globalassets/publikationer/dokument/2020/bostadsanpassnin gsbidragen-2019.pdf
- Swedish Research Council. (2017). Good research practice. Stockholm.
- Tabachnick, B.G., Fidell, L.S. (2013). Using Multivariate Statistics. 6th ed. Pearson Education. [Cited 2022 Sept]. Available from: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,uid&db=cat0714 7a&AN=lub.4302740&site=eds-live&scope=site.
- Thordardottir, B., Nilsson, M.H., Iwarsson, S., & Haak, M. (2014). You plan, but you never know" participation among people with different levels of severity of Parkinson's disease. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. *36*,26, 2216-2224. https://doi.org/10.3109/09638288.2014.898807
- Timpka, J., Dahlström, Ö., Spreco, A., Nilsson, M.H., Iwarsson, S., Timpka, T., & Odin, P. (2018). Reduced workforce participation 5 years prior to first Parkinson's disease sick-leave. NPJ Parkinsons Dis. 4,36,12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41531-018-0072-2
- Tomsone, S., Horstmann, V., Oswald, F., & Iwarsson I. (2013). Aspects of housing and perceived health among ADL independent and ADL dependent groups of older people in three national samples. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 25(3),317-28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40520-013-0050-9
- Townsend, E., & Polatajko, H. (2007). *Enabling occupation II: Advancing an occupational therapy vision for health, well-being, & justice through occupation.* Ottawa: CAOT Publishers.
- United Nations. (2006). Convention of the rights of person with disabilities. New York: United Nations: 2006.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). (2009). Guidance for Industry. Patient-Reported Outcome Measures: Use in Medical Product Development to Support Labeling Claims. [Cited 2022 Sept]. Available from:

http://www.fda.gov/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocuments/default.htm

- Van Den Eeden, S.K., Tanner, C.M., Bernstein, A.L., Fross, R.D., Leimpeter, A., Bloch, D.A., & Nelson, L.M. (2003). Incidence of Parkinson's disease: variation by age, gender, and race/ethnicity. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1,157(11),1015-22. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwg068
- Váradi C. (2020). Clinical Features of Parkinson's Disease: The Evolution of Critical Symptoms. *Biology (Basel)*. 19,9,103. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology9050103
- Vescovelli, F., Sarti, D., & Ruini, C. (2018). Subjective and psychological well-being in Parkinson's Disease: A systematic review. Acta Neurol Scand. 138:12–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/ane.12946
- Vilhelmsson, A. & Tengland, P. (2016). *Global folkhälsa: om livsvillkor, sjukdomar och social rättvisa*. (1st ed.) Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Vossius, C., Nilsen, O.B., & Larsen, J.P. (2009). Parkinson's disease and nursing home placement: the economic impact of the need for care. *Eur J Neurol*.16(2),194-200. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02380.x
- Wahl, H.W., Fänge, A., Oswald, F., Gitlin, L.N., & Iwarsson, S. (2009). The Home Environment and Disability-Related Outcomes in Aging Individuals: What Is the Empirical Evidence?, *The Gerontologist.* 49, 3, 355–367. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnp056
- Wahl, H.W., & Oswald. F. (2016). Theories of Environmental Gerontology: Old and new avenues for person-environmental views of aging. I V.L. Bengtson, R.A. Settersten (Eds.) *Handbook of Theories of Aging* (ed. 3). Springer.
- Wellecke, C., D'Cruz, K., Winkler, D., Douglas, J., Goodwin, I., Davis, E., & Mulherin, P. (2022). Accessible design features and home modifications to improve physical housing accessibility: A mixed-methods survey of occupational therapists. *Disability* and Health Journal, 15:3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2022.101281
- Ware, J.E. Jr, & Gandek B. (1998). Methods for testing data quality, scaling assumptions, and reliability: the IQOLA Project approach. International Quality of Life Assessment. J Clin Epidemiol. 51(11),945-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0895-4356(98)00085-7
- Wiles, J.L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., & Allen R. (2012). The Meaning of "Aging in Place" to Older People. *The Gerontologist*. 52,3,357–366, https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnr098
- World Health Organization (WHO). (1948). Summary report on proceedings, minutes and final acts of the International Health Conference held in New York from 19 June to 22 July 1946. World Health Organisation. [Cited 2022 May] Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/85573
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2018). *Housing and health guidelines*. Geneva: World Health Organization. [Cited 2022 May] Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241550376
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2020). Decade of healthy ageing: baseline report. Geneva: World Health Organization. [Cited 2022 Sept] Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240017900

- World Health Organization (WHO). (2022a). Parkinson disease: a public health approach. Technical brief. Geneva. [Cited 2022 Sept] Available from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240050983
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2022b). *Health topics: Rehabilitation*. [Cited 2022 May] Available form: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rehabilitation
- World Health Organization (WHO) & The World Bank. (2011). World report on disability. Geneva: World Health Organisation & The World Bank. [Cited 2022 May] Available form: https://apps.who.int/iris/rest/bitstreams/66941/retrieve
- World Medical Association. (2013). World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA. 310(20): p. 2191-4. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.281053

Appendix I-III

Appendix I. The original version of the Meaning of Home Questionnaire

Interviewer: Obligatory introductory comments:

"<u>A person's home can have many different meanings for the resident</u>. It is not just a place where the everyday routine is performed. For example: A home can be meaningful because one can do as one pleases. It can be a place where an individual might feel on the one hand safe, or on the other hand confined within its limits or many other things.

The following statements refer to different <u>meanings of home</u>. I will read these statements aloud, and ask you to judge to what extent <u>you personally</u> agree or disagree with each statement <u>at present</u>. You may choose between the following possible answers:"

Interviewer: Present the scale.

strongly strongly										
disagree agree										
0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Obligatory Interviewer statement:

"If you agreed fully with a statement, please respond with '10'; if it does not reflect your situation at all, please respond with '0'. If you neither strongly agree nor disagree with a statement, please choose the answer on the scale between 1 and 9 which best corresponds to your situation."

Interviewer should begin each statement with the phrase "Being at home means for me..."

No.	Items	Enter response (0-10)
1.	living in a place which is well-designed and geared to my needs	
2.	managing things without the help of others	
3.	being familiar with my immediate surroundings	
4.	feeling safe	
5.	meeting family, friends, and acquaintances	
6.	having to live in poor housing conditions	
7.	having a nice view	
8.	doing everyday tasks (e.g. housework)	

9.	being bored	
10.	knowing my home like the back of my hand	
11.	living in a place where I can get no support or help from others	
12.	living in a place that is comfortable and tastefully furnished	
13.	being able to change or rear rearrange things as I please	
14.	being able to relax	
15.	feeling that the home has become a burden	
16.	not having to accommodate anyone's wishes but my own	
17.	thinking about the past (e.g., important persons and events)	
18.	enjoying my privacy and being undisturbed	
19.	being excluded from social and community life	
20.	having a base from which I can pursue activities	
21.	no longer being able to keep up with the demands of my home (e.g. maintenance)	
22.	thinking about what living here will be like in the future	
23.	feeling comfortable and cosy	
24.	being able to receive visitors	
25.	being confined to the rooms (and things) inside the home	
26.	being able to do whatever I please	
27.	feeling lonely	
28.	having a good relationship with the neighbours	

Appendix 2. The revised version of the Meaning of Home Questionnaire.

No.	Items	Sub-scale
1.	living in a place which is well-designed and geared to my needs*	Excluded
2.	managing things without the help of others*	Excluded
3.	being familiar with my immediate surroundings	My home is my social hub
4.	feeling safe*	Excluded
5.	meeting family, friends, and acquaintances	My home is my social hub
6.	having to live in poor housing conditions	My home is my prison
7.	having a nice view	My home is my social hub
8.	doing everyday tasks (e.g. housework)	My home is my castle
9.	being bored	My home is my prison
10.	knowing my home like the back of my hand	My home is my castle
11.	living in a place where I can get no support or help from others	My home is my prison
12.	living in a place that is comfortable and tastefully furnished	My home is my social hub
13.	being able to change or rear rearrange things as I please	My home is my castle
14.	being able to relax	My home is my castle
15.	feeling that the home has become a burden	My home is my prison
16.	not having to accommodate anyone's wishes but my own	My home is my castle
17.	thinking about the past (e.g., important persons and events)*	Excluded
18.	enjoying my privacy and being undisturbed	My home is my castle
19.	being excluded from social and community life	My home is my prison
20.	having a base from which I can pursue activities	My home is my social hub
21.	no longer being able to keep up with the demands of my home (e.g. maintenance)	My home is my prison
22.	thinking about what living here will be like in the future*	Excluded
23.	feeling comfortable and cosy	My home is my castle
24.	being able to receive visitors	My home is my social hub

25.	being confined to the rooms (and things) inside the home	My home is my prison
26.	being able to do whatever I please	My home is my castle
27.	feeling lonely	My home is my prison
28.	having a good relationship with the neighbours	My home is my social hub

*Items marked italicizised are excluded from the new revised version of the MOH.

Appendix III. The original and the revised version of the external Housing-related control beliefs Questionnaire (HCQ)

Interviewer: Obligatory introductory comments

"The following statements describe <u>how people might react to and feel about their home</u>. I will read the statements aloud and ask you to judge to what extent each one reflects your personal situation. You may choose between the following range of answers:"

Interviewer: Present the scale.

strongly	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly
disagree				agree

Interviewer: Obligatory introductory comments

"You may choose between 'strongly disagree', 'disagree', 'neutral' - that is, a statement might be partly true and partly not - 'agree' or 'strongly agree'. Please choose the category which - in your opinion - best applies to you."

Interviewer: If the interviewee needs additional assistance, please add (optional):

"Don't give too much thought to your responses; just tell me what occurs to you spontaneously. There are no right or wrong answers - I only want to know what you personally think about the various statements."

No.	Items	Interviewer: Please mark with a cross				
2.	I rely to a great extent upon the advice of <u>others</u> when it comes to helpful improvements to my home.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	strongly agree
3.	Having a nice place is all <u>luck</u> . You cannot influence it; you just have to accept it.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	strongly agree
5.	Whether or not I will be able to stay in my home will probably depend on other people.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	strongly agree
6.	It's purely a <u>matter of luck</u> whether or not neighbours will step in if I need help.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	strongly agree
8.	In order to do anything interesting outside of my home I have to rely on <u>others.</u>	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	Agree	strongly agree
9.	Whether or not I can stay in my home depends on luck and circumstance*.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree

11.	I must rely on <u>others</u> when it comes to making use of support services and facilities in my local area.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
12.	You just have to live with the way your home is; <u>you cannot do anything about it</u> .	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
14.	When <u>other people</u> offer to help around the house (e.g., with the housework) or help me outside the home, I can't say no.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
15.	Where and how I live has happened more <u>by chance</u> than anything else*.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
17.	<u>Other people</u> have told me how to arrange the furnishings in my home.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
18.	It's a case of <u>luck or chance</u> whether I will be able to continue my present way of life in my home in the future.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
20.	I listen to the advice of <u>others</u> when they tell me not to change anything in my own home.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
21.	The way my home has been set up just happened <u>by chance</u> , over time.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
23.	Other people are to blame if my home is not a place where I can enjoy life.	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree
24.	Whether or not there are support services or community facilities in my neighbourhood is just a matter of <u>luck</u> .	strongly disagree	disagree	neutral	agree	strongly agree

*Excluded in the new revised version for use among people with PD.

Paper I-IV

Housing matters for people with Parkinson's disease

This thesis mainly focuses on different housing aspects for people with Parkinson's disease. The studies address both objective and perceived aspects of housing as well as activities of daily living and the data is based on a cohort study that included baseline assessments and a 3-year follow-up.



NILLA ANDERSSON is a registered occupational therapist with a master's degree in medical science. She has mainly worked in rehabilitation for people with chronic neurological diseases at Skåne University Hospital. The PhD student project was accomplished in the Active and Healthy Ageing research group, affiliated with the Centre of Ageing and Supportive Environments (CASE), Lund University. She was also affiliated to the Swedish National Graduate School on Ageing and Health (SWEAH) and Multidisciplinary Research on Parkinson's disease (MultiPark) during the PhD education.



FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Health Sciences

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2022:152 ISBN 978-91-8021-314-1 ISSN 1652-8220

